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ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 

 
To be held at 6.00 pm on 

 

Monday 28 October 2019 
 

Council Chambers, Level 10, 
Council Administration Building, 41 Burelli Street, Wollongong 

 
 

Order of Business   Members 

 
1 Opening Meeting  
2 Acknowledgement of Traditional Owners  
3 Civic Prayer  
4 Apologies and Applications for Leave of 

Absence by Councillors  
5 Confirmation of Minutes of Ordinary 

Council Meeting  
6 Confirmation of Minutes of Extraordinary 

Council meeting  
7 Conflicts of Interests  
8 Petitions and Presentations  
9 Confirmation of Minutes of Council 

Committee Meeting  
10 Public Access Forum  
11 Call of the Agenda  
12 Lord Mayoral Minute  
13 Urgent Items  
14 Reports to Council  
15 Reports of Committees  
16 Items Laid on the Table  
17 Notices of Motion(s)/Questions with 

Notice  
18 Notice of Rescission Motion  
19 Confidential Business  
20 Conclusion of Meeting  
 

  
Lord Mayor –  

Councillor Gordon Bradbery AM (Chair)  
Deputy Lord Mayor –  
 Councillor Tania Brown 
Councillor Ann Martin 
Councillor Cameron Walters 
Councillor Cath Blakey 
Councillor Dom Figliomeni 
Councillor Janice Kershaw 
Councillor Jenelle Rimmer 
Councillor John Dorahy 
Councillor Leigh Colacino 
Councillor Mithra Cox 
Councillor David Brown 
Councillor Vicky King 
 

QUORUM – 7 MEMBERS TO BE PRESENT 
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CLOSED SESSION 

ITEM C1 CONFIDENTIAL: Acquisition of Properties for New Helensburgh Library 

Reason for Confidentiality 
This report recommends that this item be considered in Closed Session to the 
exclusion of the press and public in accordance with Section 10A(2)(c) of the Local 
Government Act, 1993, as the report contains information that would, if disclosed, 
confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom Council is conducting (or 
proposes to conduct) business. 

 
 



 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

MINUTES ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 

 
 

at 6.00 pm 
 

Monday 23 September 2019 
 

 

Present 
Lord Mayor – Councillor Gordon Bradbery AM (in the Chair),  
Deputy Lord Mayor - Councillor David Brown  
Councillor Ann Martin 
Councillor Cameron Walters 
Councillor Cath Blakey 
Councillor Dom Figliomeni 
Councillor Janice Kershaw 
Councillor Jenelle Rimmer 

Councillor John Dorahy 
Councillor Leigh Colacino 
Councillor Mithra Cox 
Councillor Tania Brown 
Councillor Vicky King 

 
 

In Attendance 

General Manager Greg Doyle 

Director Infrastructure + Works, Connectivity Assets + Liveable City Andrew Carfield 

Director Planning + Environment (Acting), Future City and Neighbourhoods Chris Stewart 

Director Corporate Services, Connected + Engaged City Renee Campbell  

Director Community Services,  Creative + Innovative City Kerry Hunt 

Manager Governance + Customer Service Todd Hopwood 

Chief Financial Officer   Brian Jenkins 

Manager Property + Recreation (Acting) Lucielle Power 

Chief Information Officer Ingrid McAlpin 

Manager City Strategy (Acting) David Green 

Manager City Works Mark Roebuck 

Manager Project Delivery Glenn Whittaker 

Manager Infrastructure Strategy + Planning Mike Dowd 

Manager Open Space + Environmental Services Joanne Page 

Manager Community Cultural + Economic Development Sue Savage 
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 CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS 

 Councillor Walters declared a Non Pecuniary, Non Significant Conflict of Interest in Item A as 
he works for an organisation that works with the WIN Entertainment Centre. Councillor 
Walters advised he will remain in the Chamber for discussion and voting. 

 
 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD ON 

MONDAY, 2 SEPTEMBER 2019 

291 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor T Brown  that the Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of Council 
held on Monday, 2 September 2019 (a copy having been circulated to Councillors) be taken 
as read and confirmed. 

  

  COMMUNITY FLAG POLE  

 Councillor T Brown presented three flags – 

1 Pink ribbon flag for Breast Cancer awareness month 

2 Teal ribbon flag for Ovarian Cancer awareness month 

3 Black and red ribbon flag for Remembrance Day 

 
 

PUBLIC ACCESS FORUM 
 

ITEM TITLE NAME OF SPEAKER 

5 Draft Economic Development Strategy 2019-2029 Adam Zarth 
For Recommendation 

5 Draft Economic Development Strategy 2019-2029 Debra Murphy 
For Recommendation 

- Response to Statements by President of Illawarra 
Stingrays 

John Karayiannis 

- Response to Statements by President of Illawarra 
Stingrays 

Kendall Williams 

- 5G and Wollongong David Bourke 

- Stop 5G Rollout in the Illawarra Prue Keenan 

 
 At this stage and prior to the completion of the Public Forum, Councillor Kershaw arrived at 

the meeting, the time being 6:23 pm 

292 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Colacino  that all speakers be thanked for their presentation and 
invited to table their notes. 

 
 CALL OF THE AGENDA 

293 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni  that the staff recommendations for Items 3, 4, 7 to 10, 
12 to 14 and 16 be adopted as a block. 
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 SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDERS 

294 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION – RESOLVED on the motion of Councillor D Brown seconded 
Councillor Figliomeni was CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY that the order of debate be items 15, 1, 
2, A (Lord Mayoral Minute), followed by business items in order. 

 
 SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDERS 

295 COUNCIL’S RESOLUTION – RESOLVED on the motion of Councillor D Brown seconded 
Councillor T Brown that standing orders be suspended to allow a presentation by Dominika 
Ryan of the NSW Audit Office in relation to Item 15. 

 
 ITEM 15 – ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

296 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Cox that - 

1 The Annual Financial Statements be endorsed and an opinion be formed in the 
prescribed format (as per Attachments 3 and 4) on the General Purpose Financial 
Statement and the Special Purpose Financial Statement. 

2 The audited Financial Statements, together with the Auditor’s report, Executive 
Summary (Attachment 5) and Financial Commentary (Attachment 6) be presented to 
the public at the next Council meeting. 

3 Ms Ryan be thanked for her presentation. 

 
 

 ITEM 1 - ELECTION OF DEPUTY LORD MAYOR 

297 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Walters that - 

1 That the term for the Deputy Lord Mayor be for the remainder of the term of Council. 

2 That the method of election for Deputy Lord Mayor be by open voting.  

 The Lord Mayor handed proceedings over to the Returning Officer. 

The Returning Officer for the election (Manager Governance and Customer Service) advised 
the meeting that nominations had been received from Councillor Cox, Councillor Walters and 
Councillor T Brown. 

As there was more than one nomination the Returning Officer conducted an election for the 
position of Deputy Lord Mayor. 

Following the election, the Returning Officer declared that Councillor T Brown was elected as 
Deputy Lord Mayor for the period up to 12 September 2020. 
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 ITEM 2 - APPOINTMENT OF COUNCILLOR DELEGATES TO COMMITTEES AND 
REFERENCE GROUPS 

298 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Walters that - 

1 Councillor Representatives be appointed to the committees, reference groups and 
external organisations listed in Attachment 1, as per the nominations listed in the 
attachment. 

2 The following additional appointments and changes to the committees, reference groups 
and external organisations: 

Wollongong Heritage Reference Group 

 Councillor Cox removed from Chair but remaining a member 

 Councillor Martin appointed as Chair 

Lake Illawarra Estuary Management Committee 

 Councillor Martin appointed 

 Councillor Walters removed 

Sports and Facilities Reference Group 

 Councillor Walters appointed 

Healthy Cities Illawarra Board 

Councillor Blakey appointed as alternate.  

3 The General Manager be authorised to appoint staff to any external committees that 
have vacancies following the election of Councillors. 
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 DEPARTURE OF COUNCILLOR 

 During debate and prior to voting on Item A: 

 Councillor King departed the meeting, the time being 6:59 pm, and did not return to 
the meeting 

 Councillor Kershaw departed and returned to the meeting, the time being from 7:27 
pm to 7:28 pm 

 ITEM A – REFURBISHMENT OF THE WOLLONGONG ENTERTAINMENT CENTRE 

299 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION – RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor 
Bradbery that Wollongong City Council write to the Premier, Minister for Sport, 
Multiculturalism, Seniors and Veterans to - 

1 Note that there have been no significant capital works or improvements undertaken on 
the Wollongong Entertainment Centre (WEC) since it was opened in 1998. 

2 Note that the amenity of the WEC is tired and uninviting with seating which is especially 
uncomfortable and substandard at present.  

3 Request that the following refurbishment of the WEC be expedited: 

a An upgrade of the disability access, toilets and seating 

b An upgrade of the facilities for exhibition and conference opportunities, expanding 
the use of the WEC to include additional tourism and visitor activities 

c An upgrade of the Information, Communication and Technology systems, particularly 
the installation of Wi-Fi and digital media capabilities. 

d  An upgrade of sustainability features to achieve a NABERS 5 Green Star rating, to 
attract use by state and federal agencies, and major companies. 

4 Note the need for this work to proceed to meet the infrastructure requirements for the 
forthcoming UCI (Union Cycliste Internationale) Road Cycling Championships to be 
staged in Wollongong September 2022. 

5 Emphasise that, notwithstanding the need for urgent refurbishment, the long term 
objective is to upgrade or a complete rebuild of the Wollongong Entertainment Centre to 
a second tier convention and entertainment centre to meet the future needs of 
Wollongong and the region. 

Variation The following variations were accepted by the Lord Mayor: 

 The addition of Point 3d by Councillor Cox 

 The addition of the words ‘Premier’ and ‘Multiculturalism’ to the Motion and the 
addition of Point 5 by Councillor Bradbery 

 The addition of the words ‘or a complete rebuild of’ in Point 5 by Councillor Colacino 

 
 ITEM 3 - 2020 COUNCIL MEETING CYCLE 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

Council adopt the 2020 Council Meeting Cycle as shown in the attachment to this report. 
 

 
 
 



 

Ordinary Meeting of Council 23 September 2019 7 

Minute No.    
 

 

 ITEM 4 - ALTERATION OF COUNCIL WARD BOUNDARIES 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that -  

1 In accordance with s210A of the Local Government Act 1993, the proposed ward 
boundaries detailed in the report, and as shown in Attachment B, be endorsed and 
placed on public exhibition. 

2 A further report be provided with the results of the public exhibition process. 
  

 DEPARTURE OF COUNCILLOR 

 During debate and prior to voting on Item 5: 

 Councillor Cox departed and returned to the meeting, the time being from 7:56 pm to 
7:58 pm. 

 Councillor Colacino departed and returned to the meeting, the time being from 7:59 
pm to 8:02 pm 

 Councillor Walters departed and returned to the meeting, the time being from 8:03 pm 
to 8:05 pm. 

 Councillor Rimmer departed and returned to the meeting, the time being from 8:07 pm 
to 8:09 pm. 

 ITEM 5 - DRAFT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2019-2029 

300 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Colacino that - 

1 Council endorses the Economic Development Strategy 2019-2029. 

2 Council notes the Community Engagement Report, the We Asked, You Said, We Did 
Summary, the Recommended Updates Summary and the Economic Development 
Strategy 2019-2029 Implementation Plan.  

3 That the Economic Development Strategy be reviewed within the next 12 to 24 months 
to determine VET gaps and how TAFE can contribute to job growth in the region. 

 
Variation The addition of Point 3 by Councillor Figliomeni was accepted by the mover and seconder 

 
 DEPARTURE OF COUNCILLOR 

 During debate and prior to voting on Item 6: 

 Councillor Kershaw departed the meeting, the time being 8:23 pm, and did not return 
to the meeting. 

 Councillor T Brown departed and returned to the meeting, the time being from 8:33 
pm to 8:35 pm. 

 
 A PROCEDURAL MOTION was MOVED by Councillor Colacino seconded Councillor Walters 

that an additional 30 seconds be granted to Councillor Dorahy in relation to Item 6. 
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 ITEM 6 - EMISSIONS REDUCTION TARGET - GLOBAL COVENANT OF MAYORS 

 Motion of Councillor Cox seconded Councillor Blakey that - 

 1 A science-derived emissions reduction target of net zero emissions by 2050 be 
submitted to the Global Covenant of Mayors secretariat. Noting that Council is 
submitting this target on behalf of the community, for the benefit of the entire community 
and that Council is not solely responsible for the implementation of actions to achieve 
this target.  

2 An Emissions Reduction Action Plan be developed in collaboration with and to assist all 
sectors of the community to achieve the emissions reduction target for the Wollongong 
Local Government Area. 

 
Variation The addition of the words ‘in collaboration with and’ to Point 2 by Cr Martin 

 At this stage Councillor D Brown moved a FORESHADOWED MOTION seconded Councillor 
Martin should Councillor Cox’s Motion be defeated –  

That this item be deferred until after a period of public consultation on the attached reports. 

In favour Councillors Martin, Cox, Blakey, Colacino and Bradbery 

Against Councillors Rimmer, D Brown, T Brown, Walters, Dorahy and Figliomeni 

 Following the defeat of Councillor Cox’s Motion, Councillor D Brown’s FORESHADOWED 
MOTION was PUT to the VOTE and was CARRIED 

301 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION – RESOLVED on the motion of Councillor D Brown seconded 
Councillor martin that – 

This Item be deferred until after a period of public consultation on the attached reports. 

In favour Councillors Rimmer, D Brown, T Brown, Blakey, Colacino, Walters, Dorahy and Figliomeni 

Against Councillors Cox, Bradbery and Martin 

 
 ITEM 7 - COLLINS CREEK FLOOD STUDY 2019 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

1 That the Collins Creek Flood Study (2019) be adopted. 

2 Persons who made submissions be thanked and advised of Council’s decision. 
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 ITEM 8 - DRAFT PLANNING AGREEMENT: CALDERWOOD HEIGHTS PTY LTD – 347 
CALDERWOOD ROAD, CALDERWOOD 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

1 The Draft Planning Agreement and Explanatory Note between Wollongong City Council 
and Calderwood Heights Pty Ltd (Attachments 2 and 3) be exhibited for a minimum 
period of 28 days. 

2 Shellharbour City Council be advised that Wollongong City Council and Calderwood 
Heights Pty Ltd are proposing to enter into a Planning Agreement for the provision of 
monetary contributions towards Wollongong City Council road upgrades as required by 
the Calderwood Major Project Approval, and should it determine that DA0290/2018 or 
any other development application for the subject land be approved, appropriate 
conditions of consent be included. 

3 The General Manager be delegated authority to determine, finalise and execute the 
Planning Agreement, including making minor amendments, after consideration of any 
issues raised in the public exhibition. 

 
 

 ITEM 9 - DRAFT PLANNING PROPOSAL 4 YENDA AVENUE BULLI PP-2018/8 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

1 A draft Planning Proposal be submitted to the NSW Department of Planning, Industry 
and Environment for 4 Yenda Avenue (Lot 105 DP 264639) Bulli seeking a Gateway 
determination to amend Schedule 1 of Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 2009 to 
permit a Centre-based Child Care Facility.  

2 A detailed Flood Management Plan and Bushfire Management Plan be submitted by the 
applicant if the proposal obtains a “Gateway” approval and prior to public exhibition. 

3 The draft Planning Proposal, including the Flood Management Plan and Bushfire 
Management Plan be exhibited for 28 days. 

4 The Department of Planning, Industry and Environment be requested to issue authority 
to the General Manager to exercise plan making delegation in accordance with Council’s 
resolution of 26 November 2012.  

 
 ITEM 10 - DRAFT COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION PLAN - ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING 

AND ASSESSMENT ACT 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

1 The Draft Community Participation Plan be exhibited for a minimum period of 28 days. 

2 The exhibition material include advice that the Wollongong Development Control Plan 
2009 – Appendix 1 Public Notification and Advertising Procedures is proposed to be 
repealed, upon the commencement of the Community Participation Plan. 
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ITEM 11 - THIRROUL SURF LIFE SAVING CLUB INC - REQUEST FOR WAIVER OF 
FEES FOR LICENCE AGREEMENT 

302 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

The fees payable in respect of the proposed licence agreement, being the preparation of 
lease and licence agreements fee and the licence fee (payable annually), not be waived.  
 

 
 ITEM 12 - PUBLIC EXHIBITION PROPOSED FEES AND CHARGES 2019/20 - 

BALGOWNIE VILLAGE COMMUNITY CENTRE 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

Council adopt the Balgownie Village Community Centre Fees and Charges for 2019/2020. 

  

 ITEM 13 - TENDER T18/46 PROVISION OF DESIGN AND TECHNICAL SERVICES TO 
COUNCIL 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

1 In accordance with clause 178(1)(a) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 
2005, Council accept the tenders shown below in Tables A – T for the Provision of 
Design and Technical Services to Council for a period of one year with the option to 
extend annually for a further four years at the sole discretion of Council. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the 
contract and any other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract and 
any other documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this resolution. 

 
 ITEM 14 - TENDER T19/26 RIBBONWOOD KURRAJONG KITCHEN REFURBISHMENT 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

1 In accordance with clause 178(1)(a) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 
2005, Council accept the tender of Sullivans Constructions for Ribbonwood Kurrajong 
Hall 1 kitchen refurbishment, in the sum of $139,716, excluding GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the 
contract and any other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract and 
any other documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this resolution. 
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 ITEM 16 - CITY OF WOLLONGONG TRAFFIC COMMITTEE MINUTES OF MEETING 
HELD ON 28 AUGUST 2019 

 The following staff recommendation was adopted as part of the block adoption of items (refer 
Minute Number 293). 

 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor D 
Brown seconded Councillor Figliomeni that - 

In accordance with the powers delegated to Council, the Minutes and Recommendations of 
the City of Wollongong Traffic Committee held on 28 August 2019 in relation to Regulation of 
Traffic be adopted. 

  

    DEPARTURE OF COUNCILLOR 

 During debate and prior to voting on Item 17, Councillor Cox departed and returned to the 
meeting, the time being from 9:21 pm to 9:26 pm. 

 ITEM 17 - NOTICE OF MOTION - COUNCILLOR COLACINO - INTERPRETIVE 
HISTORICAL SIGNAGE ALONG GRAND PACIFIC WALK 

303 COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION - RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY on the motion of Councillor 
Colacino seconded Councillor Walters that Wollongong City Council -  

1 Develop a delivery model that outlines what areas could benefit from, and are worthy of, 
interpretive historical signage along the entire length of the Grand Pacific Walk and other 
frequently visited tourism areas within Wollongong’s LGA. 

2 The proposed delivery model for provision of, and extent of, signage be included into a 
briefing note to be provided to Councillors before the next round of budget discussions 
for the 2020-2021 financial year. The briefing note should also include the following - 

a An indicative cost for the design and placement of signage that would outline the 
history of the old miners’ cottages that skirt the edge of Lawrence Hargrave Drive at 
Scarborough  

b The briefing note should include any obstacles that could inhibit the delivery of this 
type of interpretative signage  

c The cost of this signage is not to be included into the amounts allocated to finalise 
the missing sections of the shared Grand Pacific Walk 

d The report should indicate an appropriate amount that could be put into an annual 
fund that would allow for the rollout for the proposed interpretive signage to be 
progressively introduced. This fund will be separate from any grant funding 
opportunities that become available 

e Investigate what requirements would be needed to put in place such signage 

f Include within the briefing note what other types of delivery streams could be utilised 
to deliver this type of service 

g Any proposed signage will not be limited to the European history of any given area 

h Research and indicate which other languages, separate to English, could benefit 
from being included into any display. 

 
THE MEETING CONCLUDED AT 9:32 PM 

 
Confirmed as a correct record of proceedings at the Ordinary Meeting of the Council of the City of 
Wollongong held on Monday 28 October 2019. 
 
 
 

 

Chairperson  
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Item A Notice of Motion - Councillor Figliomeni - Port Kembla Community Investment Fund (PKCIF) 
Item 1 Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 - Post Exhibition 

File: CST-100.06.032 Doc: IC19/604 

ITEM 1 WOLLONGONG HERITAGE STRATEGY 2019-2022 - POST EXHIBITION 
  

On 24 June 2019, Council resolved to exhibit the draft Wollongong Heritage Strategy and 
Implementation Plan 2019-2022.  The Strategy was exhibited from 26 June to 6 August 2019.  This 
report details the outcomes of the exhibition process and recommends that Council adopt the 
Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 The Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 (Attachment 3) be adopted as a supporting 
document. 

2 The Wollongong Heritage Implementation Plan 2019-2022 be noted as an Operational Delivery Plan 
for delivery of the Wollongong Heritage Strategy. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: David Fitzgibbon, Manager City Strategy (Acting)  
Authorised by: Chris Stewart, Director Planning and Environment - Future City and Neighbourhoods 

(Acting)  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Engagement and Communications Summary Report 
2  Summary of Submissions and Recommended Actions 
3  Final Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 and Implementation Plan 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

On 31 October 2015, Council adopted the Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2015-2017.  The Strategy 
informs the work of the Wollongong Heritage Reference Group and Council’s heritage staff.   

On 24 June 2019, Council considered a report on a draft Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 
which was developed with the input of the Wollongong Heritage Reference Group.  Council resolved 
that – 

The draft Wollongong Heritage Strategy and Implementation Plan 2019-2022 be endorsed as a draft 
Council Policy and placed on public exhibition for a minimum period of 28 days. 

The draft Strategy and Implementation Plan 2019-2022 were exhibited from 26 June to 6 August 2019.  
The details of the exhibition and submissions received are detailed in the ‘Consultation and 
Communication’ section of this report. 

PROPOSAL 

The continued evolution and implementation of the Wollongong Heritage Strategy is important in 
ensuring the ongoing conservation and increased community appreciation and awareness of our City’s 
unique and valuable heritage.  The draft Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 and Implementation 
Plan (included as Appendix 1), provides a strategic approach to the ongoing management and delivery 
of Heritage programs and projects. 

The progression of the draft Strategy will support the ongoing allocation of funding from the NSW State 
Government Heritage funding streams toward Council’s Heritage Programs.  The structure, format and 
timeframe of the draft Strategy have been prepared to meet the requirements of the NSW Heritage 
Branch of the NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment. 
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CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

The draft Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 was developed in conjunction with the Wollongong 
Heritage Reference Group during 2019. 

Following Council’s resolution on 24 June 2019, the draft Strategy and Implementation Plan were 
exhibited from 26 June to 6 August 2019.  The exhibition was advertised in local newspapers, via a 
press release and via Council’s Website and social media channels. Key stakeholders were also invited 
to comment on the draft Strategy.  The Engagement and Communications Summary Report is provided 
as Attachment 1 to this report. 

During the exhibition period, the exhibition page received 226 visits and 118 people downloaded the 
exhibited documents. 

Feedback on the Have Your Say Website was requested through two feedback forms, either in relation 
to – 

1 The nine key Strategies outlined in the draft Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022: or 

2 The draft Implementation Plan actions, which will assist Council to deliver on the Strategy. 

In response to the exhibition, 14 written submissions were received, three (3) from organisations and 
11 from individuals. 

The key issues raised in the submissions are detailed and addressed in the attached ‘Summary of 
Submissions’ document provided as Attachment 2 to this report.  The actions recommended by Council’s 
Heritage staff with input from the Heritage Reference Group to address each submission are also 
included in this document. 

Key themes in the feedback received on the draft Strategy included suggested improvements to 
Council’s promotion of heritage awareness and education through the use of social media and the 
promotion of cultural tourism opportunities and interpretation. Two submissions raised issues relating to 
the struggling local Museum section and the possibility of a Regional Museum of the Local Government 
Area.  Some comments were also made in relation to Council’s Heritage Assessment Management 
performance. The submissions also reflected the need for increased community involvement in all areas 
of heritage management throughout the City. 

The draft Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 was updated with consideration to the feedback 
received and the recommended actions reported to the Wollongong Heritage Reference Group meeting 
on 12 September 2019. The Wollongong Heritage Reference Group resolved that – 

The Draft Strategy be generally updated with the recommended Actions and Minor Amendments to 
the revised Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 following Council’s Heritage Staff liaising with 
Martin Gorrick in relation to rural and cultural landscape actions, prior to recommendation to Council 
for adoption as Council Policy. 

The additional work relating to rural and cultural landscape actions has been undertaken. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We value and protect our 
environment”.  It specifically delivers on the following - 

Community Strategic Plan Delivery Program 2018-2021 Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

1.4.1 Programs and projects that 
achieve proactive heritage 
management, education and 
promotion are developed and 
implemented. 

1.4.2 Our Aboriginal community is 
actively engaged in the 

1.4.1.1 Work in partnership with 
others to promote a diverse 
range of heritage education 
and promotion programs. 

1.4.2.1 Work with the local 
Aboriginal community in the 
management of Indigenous 

1 Continue to deliver the Heritage 
Assistance Grant Program  

2 Coordinate the Heritage Advisory 
Committee (Heritage Reference 
Group) 

 Committee (Heritage Reference 
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management of indigenous 
heritage. 

heritage. Group) 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no direct financial implications associated with the adoption of the recommendations within 
this report. It is noted that the draft Heritage Implementation Plan 2019-2022 document includes some 
aspirational projects which would be subject to either internal or external funding.  These projects are 
clearly identified as long term projects that are subject to funding. This approach will assist with making 
external grant funding applications. 

CONCLUSION 

The adoption of the Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2019-2022 is an important step in ensuring a 
continued focus on the implementation and delivery of a focused heritage management program with a 
clearly defined strategy direction. The Strategy, along with the accompanying Implementation Plan, will 
guide and support the ongoing work of the Wollongong Heritage Reference Group and Council staff in 
the management and conservation of Wollongong’s heritage. 
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Item 2 Interim Heritage Order - Former Corrimal Coke Works Site 

File: PP-2017/6 Doc: IC19/616 

ITEM 2 INTERIM HERITAGE ORDER - FORMER CORRIMAL COKE WORKS SITE 
  

On 3 April 2018, Council resolved to prepare a draft Planning Proposal to enable a residential 
development on the former Corrimal Coke Works at 27 Railway Street, Corrimal.  The Council resolution 
and subsequent Gateway determination required the completion of a number of supporting studies, 
including assessing the heritage significance of the site prior to public exhibition of the draft Planning 
Proposal.  

On 8 May 2019, a Complying Development Certificate (CDC) was issued by a private certifier to the 
developer of the site, for demolition of the majority of structures on the site. 

On 20 May 2019, Council placed an Interim Heritage Order (IHO) under the NSW Heritage Act 1977 
over the site to provide temporary protection to the structures earmarked for demolition. The IHO was 
issued by staff under delegation to allow time to assess the heritage significance of the site and progress 
a heritage listing as per the 2018 Council resolution.  The IHO will expire on the 20 November 2019, six 
months after the date of gazettal. Once the IHO expires, the proponent is able to act upon the CDC for 
demolition of all structures.  

Council has now received additional studies and reports relating to the heritage significance of the site, 
however there are still outstanding heritage issues to be addressed. It is recommended that Council 
resolve to extend an amended IHO for a further six months over a reduced area, whilst the Planning 
Proposal process is progressed, which will include a recommendation for heritage listing part of the 
Corrimal Coke Works site. The amendment IHO will enable the building with low significance to be 
demolished under the approved CDC without further involvement from Council. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 The Interim Heritage Order over the Corrimal Coke Works site be extended for an additional six 
months, over a reduced area (Figure 3), excluding the coke conveyor and Brickies shed.  The 
alignment of the tramway be identified as archaeological significance. 

2 Council reaffirms is resolution of 3 April 2018 to prepare a draft Planning Proposal that will involve 
the heritage listing of part of the former Corrimal Coke Works site as per the proposed curtilage map 
in Figure 3. 

3 The draft Statement of Significance as detailed in the draft State Heritage Inventory Form 
(Attachment 2) be endorsed. 

4 The Heritage Council be requested to make a recommendation to the Minister for Energy and 
Environment under Section 32(2) of the NSW Heritage Act 1977 to include the Corrimal Coke 
Works site on the State Heritage Register.  

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: David Fitzgibbon, Manager City Strategy (Acting)  
Authorised by: Chris Stewart, Director Planning and Environment - Future City and Neighbourhoods 

(Acting)  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Interim Heritage Order Gazettal and Map 
2  Draft State Heritage Inventory Form 
3  Corrimal Coke Works - Condition of Screenhouse 
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BACKGROUND 

Site’s Background 

The former Corrimal Coke Works site is located at 27 Railway Street, Corrimal known as Lot 1 
DP795791, Lot 5 DP 749492, Lot 126 DP 598190 and Lot 11 DP749492. The subject site is 
approximately 18.2 hectares in area. The land is currently zoned IN3 Heavy Industrial, RE2 Private 
Recreation and SP2 Infrastructure.  The site contains numerous structures associated with the operation 
of the former Coke Works, including the powerhouse, coke ovens, brick and steel stacks and 
administration buildings. 

The Coke Works operated for over 100 years and was the longest continuously operated Coke Works in 
NSW. The Coke Works was a key component in the establishment of Corrimal as a suburb and ensured 
the economic health of the locality as a continuous employer of local families. The Coke Works ceased 
operation on 1 April, 2014, as it was no longer financially viable. Since the closure of the Coke Works in 
2014, the site has become a vacant and some of the structures have fallen into disrepair. 

Draft Planning Proposal  

On 4 October 2017, a request was lodged for the former Corrimal Coke Works seeking the preparation 
of a draft Planning Proposal to rezone the site and change the planning controls to permit residential 
development of some 730 dwellings.  The request was supported by a number of studies, including a 
Historic Heritage Assessment prepared by Biosis (dated August 2017). The report indicated that the site 
had potential State heritage significance. However, no heritage curtilage was proposed for the site. 
Additional information was requested to adequately assess the potential state heritage significance and 
archaeological potential of the site. 

On 3 April 2018, Council resolved to prepare a draft Planning Proposal for a residential redevelopment of 
the site and to seek a conditional Gateway Determination. The 2018 resolution contained the following 
recommendations in relation to heritage - 

2 The draft Planning Proposal is to be referred to the NSW Heritage Council for comments in 
relation to – 

a The Archaeological significance of the site and the potential requirements and implications of 
archaeological impacts from future development under Section 140 of the NSW Heritage Act 
1977. 

b The potential for the site to be listed on the State Heritage Register (in light of the finding of 
State Significance in the Biosis Report). 

On 20 August 2018, the then NSW Department of Planning & Environment issued Gateway 
Determination for the draft Planning Proposal which required a range of additional heritage documents to 
be prepared by the proponent prior to public exhibition. These documents included - 

1 Aboriginal cultural heritage assessment 

2 Conservation management plan that provides for the long-term conservation of significant coke work 
heritage components 

The Gateway Determination also required consultation with the NSW Heritage Council, and 
demonstration of compliance with Ministerial Directions in relation to the potential state significance of 
the site.  Following the Gateway Determination, Council staff liaised with the proponent regarding the 
additional heritage information required to satisfy the Council resolution and the Gateway determination.  

This report only considers the heritage aspects of the site and not other issues. 

Proposal for Demolition  

On 15 May 2019, prior to submission of the additional heritage information required under the Gateway 
determination, the proponent obtained a Complying Development Certificate (CDC) determined on 
8 May 2019 for the demolition of all structures on the site. The certificate indicates that the proponent 
had applied for the CDC on 2 April 2019. 
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Upon receipt of the CDC, Council officers advised the proponent that it did not support the progression of 
any demolition works prior to further consideration of the Planning Proposal, including a heritage listing 
for part of the site in accordance with Council’s 2018 resolution.  Council officers also suggested that the 
CDC could be amended to only apply to low significant structures. 

On 20 May 2019, an Interim Heritage Order (IHO) was gazetted to prevent demolition of any structure on 
the site without formal consent from Council (Attachment 1). The IHO has effect for six months after the 
date of gazettal, unless extended under Council’s delegation. The IHO lapses on 20 November 2019.  

Council has received legal advice that an IHO temporarily prevents the proposed works under the CDC, 
rather than extinguishing the approval. This means that if an IHO is removed or lapses the CDC can be 
acted upon immediately.  This approval pathway would avoid any requirements for archival recording, 
retention of significant fabric, management of significant archaeology under the NSW Heritage Act 1977, 
or the ability to enforce interpretation requirements through the broader development process. 

Council officers also wrote to the (then) NSW Department of Planning & Environment highlighting the 
problem with the wording of the Exempt and Complying Development (Code) SEPP that enables a CDC 
for demolition to be issued despite Council having resolved to prepare a Planning Proposal to heritage 
list a site.  The Code SEPP indicates that a CDC cannot be issued once a draft Local Environmental 
Plan (rather than a draft Planning Proposal) has been prepared.  Historically, Council resolved to 
prepare and exhibit draft LEP, however in 2008 this process was changed to prepare and exhibit a draft 
Planning Proposal.  Draft LEPs are now the legal instrument prepared by the NSW Parliamentary 
Counsel’s Office at the end of the Planning Proposal process.  The wording of the Code SEPP has not 
reflected this change.  In practice, the exhibition of a draft Planning Proposal is regarded as sufficient to 
preclude a CDC being issued. 

On 14 August 2019, the proponent informed Council of damage to the “Coke Screenhouse” building 
caused by severe winds. Council officers supported the removal of loose sheeting to ensure the site was 
made safe. The removal of the panels revealed that some of the underlying structural metal beams were 
rusted through and potentially unsafe (Attachment 3). 

Additional Information and Assessment of Heritage Significance  

On 23 May 2019, the following additional information was received (after CDC was issued) - 

1 Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment prepared by Kelleher Nightingale Consulting, dated May 
2019 

2 Conservation Management Strategy, prepared by Urbis, dated May 2019 

3 Heritage Interpretation Strategy prepared by Urbis, dated May 2019 

After review of the above documents, Council officers requested further additional heritage information 
regarding the proposed heritage curtilage for the site, clarification regarding the potential State Heritage 
Significance, assessment of the historical archaeological value of the site and visual impact analysis to 
key structures on the site.  

The proponent provided further additional information on 31 July 2019 which included - 

1 an updated Conservation Management Strategy prepared by Urbis updated 30 July 2019 

2 Peer Review: Conservation Management Strategy prepared by Weir Phillips dated July 2019 

3 a Structural Assessment of Existing Structures prepared by BG&E dated June 2019 

The historic archaeological potential of the site has yet to be addressed by the proponent as per the 
2018 Council resolution. 

The Conservation Management Strategy (CMS), prepared by Urbis (2019) recommended that areas 
assessed to be of high heritage significance as shown on Figure 1 be included on the Wollongong Local 
Environmental Plan 2009 as items of Local Heritage Significance. The CMS proposed a curtilage that 
captured areas of high significance only. In October 2019, following discussion with Council officers, the 
curtilage area was expanded to also include structures with moderate significance (Figure 2). The 
proponent also recently offered to amend their CDC approval to apply to items of low heritage 
significance and the quench towers (moderate significance). 
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Figure 1 Corrimal Coke Works Heritage Significance Map - Urbis 2019 
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Figure 2 Proponents proposed heritage curtilage – Elton 2019 
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PROPOSAL 

The draft Planning Proposal, as reported to Council and subject to Gateway Approval did not include a 
heritage curtilage as the extent and nature of significance had not at that stage been adequately 
assessed. On 10 October 2019, the proponent provided an amended curtilage that captures elements of 
“moderate” significance as assessed by Urbis (2019) following discussion with Council officers 
(Figure 2). 

Within this area, the proponents are seeking approval to remove the coke conveyor (which extends 
above the coke batteries) and the quench towers.  No objection is raised to the removal of the coke 
conveyor which is of low significance.  The quench towers are of moderate significance and their 
potential removal should be assessed via a Development Application process. 

The proponent’s proposed curtilage does not include significant view corridors to and from structures of 
high significance to Railway Street and the railway line.  Areas of archaeological potential associated 
with the former Corrimal Colliery railway alignment are also not captured.  It is noted that archaeological 
potential of the site has not yet to be assessed.  

The proposed curtilage is intended to ensure that the significance heritage values of the site are 
appropriately managed throughout the future development process. It is not intended to prevent the 
potential demolition of some of these components through a Development Application process but allows 
for a level of control over the management of this process, including the ability to manage archaeological 
significance under the NSW Heritage Act 1977, as well as requiring for interpretation and potential 
adaptive re-use of significant materials and key features. 

The proposed heritage curtilage is shown in Figure 3 and captures elements of the site assessed as 
moderate and high heritage significance by Urbis (2019) as well as capturing likely areas of 
archaeological potential relating to the former tramway (although this has not yet been properly 
assessed). This curtilage could be progressed as a Local Heritage Item on Schedule 5 of the 
Wollongong LEP 2009 as part of the Planning Proposal process. 

Council officers are of the view that the site has State Heritage Significance and should be 
recommended by the NSW Heritage Council to the Minister for Energy and Environment under Section 
32(2) of the NSW Heritage Act 1977 for inclusion on the item on the State Heritage Register. 

As the historic archaeological potential of the site is yet to be assessed, this could also lead to further 
State or Local Heritage Significance on the site.  

On 19 August 2018, advice from the NSW Heritage Council on the significance of the site was sought.  
Council has not received advice from the NSW Heritage Council on the potential state heritage 
significance of the site. 
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Figure 3 Wollongong City Council Proposed Heritage Curtilage 
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Options 

In terms of the Interim Heritage Order, Council has the following options: 

1 Allow the existing IHO to lapse. This will enable the existing complying development certificate 
(CDC) for demolition to be acted on. The majority of structures could be demolished without further 
Council involvement or archival recording. 

2 Extend the existing IHO (Attachment 1) for a further six (6) months and re-resolve to prepare a draft 
Planning Proposal. This would satisfy the requirement of the IHO and provide additional time to 
consider the heritage significance of the site and other issues associated with the Planning 
Proposal. It is noted that demolition could still occur via a Development Application process. 

3 Extend the existing IHO for a further six months but over a reduced area and only apply to items of 
high or moderate significance (Figure 3). This option is recommended.  This would enable: 

a The proponent to demolish items of low significance under the approved CDC. 

b Council to consider the heritage significance of the moderate and high significance items. It is 
noted that approval to demolish these items could occur through a Development Application 
process. 

The amended IHO would indicate that the Brickies Shed and coke conveyor could be demolished 
which are of low significance but extends into the proposed curtilage area (between the two coke 
oven batteries). 

The amended IHO could also nominate the former tramway as being of potential archaeological 
significance, which would enable the low significance structures to be demolished, but no 
excavating earthworks until the archaeological reports are finished. 

It is further recommended that Council endorse the Statement of Significance of the site as detailed 
within the draft State Heritage Inventory Form in Attachment 2. 

It is also recommended that Council resolve to prepare a request to the NSW Heritage Council to 
recommend to the Minister for Energy and Environment to include the site on the NSW State Heritage 
Register.  

This is considered to satisfy the requirements under the Council’s delegation to make Interim Heritage 
Order under the NSW Heritage Act 1977. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

The listing of structures as Heritage Items under the Wollongong Local Environmental Plan 2009 and the 
inclusion to the State Heritage Register does not necessarily preclude the demolition of buildings, but it 
does ensure that development that would impact on those Heritage Items does not occur without 
development consent, including an appropriate assessment of the impact on heritage significance. 

This report contributes to the delivery of Wollongong 2022 objective “Community awareness and 
appreciation of heritage is increased” under the Community Goal “We value and protect our 
environment”.  

This report also contributes to the delivery of the Wollongong Heritage Strategy 2015-2017 in particular 
“Strategy 2 Maintain an up to date list of Heritage Items” and “Strategy 6 Identify and manage key 
heritage precincts and streetscapes”.  

CONCLUSION 

On 3 April 2018, Council resolved to progress a heritage listing on Schedule 5 of the Wollongong Local 
Environmental Plan 2009 for the Corrimal Coke Works as part of the Planning Proposal subject to the 
preparation of additional heritage studies for the site. A proposed heritage curtilage for the site has now 
been recommended by Council’s Heritage Officers based on the assessment of heritage significance of 
the site in both the Biosis (2017) and Urbis (2019) reports. However, it is noted that as the 
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archaeological significance of the site has not yet been addressed, additional heritage values may be 
identified.  

An extension of the existing IHO over a reduced area is required to ensure the protection of the site and 
structures whilst the Planning Proposal is being progressed.  

In order to extend the IHO for the site, Council is required to comply with the conditions of Ministerial 
Orders Schedule 2, Part 5.  Therefore, it is recommended that the Council re-resolve to progress a Local 
Heritage listing for the former Corrimal Coke Works site on Schedule 5 of the Wollongong Local 
Environmental Plan 2009 as part of the Planning Proposal process with the proposed heritage curtilage 
and request the site be recommended for inclusion to the State Heritage Register for its State Heritage 
values.  
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Item 3 Implementation of Internal Audit Bureau Rectification Plan - Post Implementation Audit 

File: IW-970.00.086 Doc: IC19/618 

ITEM 3 
IMPLEMENTATION OF INTERNAL AUDIT BUREAU RECTIFICATION PLAN - POST 
IMPLEMENTATION AUDIT 

  

At the Council meeting of 3 August 2015, it was recommended that the Audit Committee commission a 
post implementation audit of the Internal Audit Bureau (IAB) Rectification Plan related to the 
management of waste material derived from construction and maintenance activities. The 
recommendation also required the findings be reported to Council.  KPMG was engaged to assess the 
effectiveness of the actions implemented following the IAB review and prepare a report for Council on 
the post implementation actions.  

The Audit Risk and Improvement Committee at its meeting of 17 September 2019, endorsed the post 
implementation audit of the IAB Review Rectification Plan to be reported to Council. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 Council endorse the post implementation audit of the IAB Review Rectification Plan noting the 
auditor confirmed all recommendations have been completed and implemented.  

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Mark Roebuck, Manager City Works  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

There are no attachments for this report  
 

 

BACKGROUND 

Council received funding under the Environmental Protection Authority’s (EPA)’s Better Waste and 
Recycling program which included an initiative to deter illegal dumping by the creation of solid barriers to 
deny access for dumping in known hotspots.  This was implemented on the old Princes Highway near 
Maddens Plans in March and April 2015.  Following community and media concern, Council undertook 
testing at the soil mounds and some of the locations where the material was sourced, it was identified 
that there were low levels of bonded asbestos in the mounds and the source locations. 

IAB was engaged by Council on 15 May 2015 to conduct an independent review of the procedures and 
systems that led to the circumstances resulting in bonded asbestos contamination appearing in mound 
barriers, to avoid similar occurrences and address the level of future risk.  In July 2015, the IAB 
Independent Review of Procedures and Systems of Mound Barriers (IAB Review) was presented to 
Council, which provided recommendations across three areas of focus: 

• Illegal Dumping Infrastructure Project Management; 
• Systems and Processes; 
• Documentation. 
 
In 2017, Council engaged Australian Sustainable Business Group (ASBG) to review progress of the 
rectification plan. ASBG found that Council had embedded waste handling procedures into the planning, 
design, Review of Environmental Factors (REF) and implementation of construction and maintenance 
activities. This review highlighted some minor non-conformances with documentation handling that was 
rectified through the provision of refresher training. This training also picked up staff that had started with 
the organisation post the original training program.   
Council engaged our internal auditor in January 2019 to undertake the post implementation audit which 
was completed and reported back to Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee (ARIC) in September 
2019 and all recommendations were confirmed as complete and implemented. 
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CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

The following Council divisions have been involved in the implementation of the recommendations and 
have been consulted throughout the post implementation audit.   

• Director Corporate Services; 
• Manager Project Delivery; 
• Manager Infrastructure Strategy + Planning; 
• Manager Open Space + Environmental Services; 
• Manager Human Resources; 
• Manager City Strategy. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We have a healthy community in a 
liveable city.” 

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Objective 5.5 – The public domain is 
maintained to a high standard. 

CONCLUSION 

KPMG were engaged to assess the effectiveness of the actions implemented following the IAB Review 
and prepare a report to Council on the post implementation outcomes of the IAB Review.  There were 41 
recommendations, and all were confirmed as complete and implemented.   
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ITEM 4 APPOINTMENT OF AUDIT RISK AND IMPROVEMENT COMMITTEE CHAIRPERSON 
  

The term of the current Audit Risk and Improvement Committee (ARIC) Chairperson expires on 30 
October 2019.  This report recommends that the current Chairperson, Mr Terry Clout be appointed as 
ARIC Chairperson for the period up to 30 September 2020.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Mr Terry Clout be appointed as chairperson of the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee for the 
period up to 30 September 2020. 
 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Todd Hopwood, Manager Governance and Customer Service  
Authorised by: Renee Campbell, Director Corporate Services - Connected + Engaged City  

ATTACHMENTS 

There are no attachments for this report. 
 

BACKGROUND 

Council, at its meeting on 13 August, 2018 appointed the following external independent members to the 
Audit Risk and Improvement Committee:  

 Terry Clout    -  Appointment expires 30 September 2020.  

Catherine Hudson  -  Appointment expires 30 September 2021. 

Stephen Horne   -  Appointment expires 30 September 2022.  

Subsequently, at its meeting on 29 October 2018 Council resolved to appoint Mr Terry Clout as 
chairperson of the ARIC for a term of one year, to 30 October 2019. The appointment was based on Mr 
Clout’s prior appointment as chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee. The appointment 
provided continuity of leadership and assisted to facilitate the successful establishment of the Audit, Risk 
and Improvement Committee during its first year. 

PROPOSAL 

The last 12 months has seen a successful transition from two assurance committees to a single ARIC.  
The move to an ARIC model is consistent with the structure of audit committees that will need to be 
implemented as part of new mandatory risk management and internal audit framework that will come into 
operation in 2020.  The Office of Local Government (OLG) has released a discussion paper giving 
details of the proposed mandatory risk management and internal audit framework.   

Whilst council has a risk management framework in place and has moved to an ARIC model, it is 
anticipated that further changes will be required in both of these areas to ensure compliance with the 
new framework if mandated as specified in the discussion paper. 

Given that it is most likely that there will need to be structural changes to the composition of the ARIC, 
plus other potential changes to the support structure for the ARIC it is recommended that the current 
committee structure and Chairperson appointment be continued to allow stability during the OLG 
discussion paper period and the transition to a new structure, that will most likely be implemented after 
the local government elections in September 2020.  

In September 2020 Council will need to consider the appointment of a new ARIC Chairperson and 
potentially the appointment of new ARIC members in accordance with the new framework to be 
introduced by the OLG. 
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CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

This matter was considered by the Audit Risk and Improvement Committee at its meeting held on 17 
September, 2019 where the Committee endorsed a recommendation to Council for Mr Terry Clout to be 
appointed ARIC Chairperson for the period up to 30 September, 2020. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We are a connected and engaged 
community”. It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Governance and 
Customer Service, Service Plan 2019-20. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no direct financial implications relating to the appointment of the ARIC Chairperson. 

CONCLUSION 

With the impending implementation of a mandatory risk management and internal audit framework that 
will potentially require changes to ARIC operations that will come into effect after next year’s local 
government elections, continuation of the current committee structure and Chairperson appointment will 
maintain stability during the OLG Discussion Paper period and the transition to a new structure. 
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Item 5 Proposed Compulsory Acquisition - Proposed Lot 11 DP 1242770 - Department of Education - rear of Dapto High School 
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ITEM 5 
PROPOSED COMPULSORY ACQUISITION - PROPOSED LOT 11 DP 1242770 - 
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - REAR OF DAPTO HIGH SCHOOL 

  
The West Dapto Access Strategy is a major project being managed by Council. Currently, Council is 
progressing Stages 2 and 3 of the Fowlers Road to Fairwater Drive link which forms an integral part of 
the Strategy. Council has resolved to acquire a number of properties in the vicinity of the road and bridge 
works in recent months to enable the construction of the road widening associated with the new Fowlers 
Road and Princes Highway intersection. 

The acquisition of the area the subject of this report relates to the bridge works affecting the land to the 
rear of Dapto High School. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 Council continue to negotiate with the Department of Education and, if agreement is reached to 
proceed with the land acquisition via Transfer, agree to be bound by the Valuer General’s 
determination for compensation for the acquisition of proposed Lot 11 DP 1242770, being Part Lot 1 
DP 81501. 

2 In the event acquisition by Transfer is not approved by the Department of Education, Council 
acquire proposed Lot 11 DP 1242770, being part Lot 1 DP 81501, by compulsory process pursuant 
to the Land Acquisition (Just Terms Compensation) Act 1991 by authority contained in the Roads 
Act 1993 for the purpose of a road. 

3 The minerals be excluded from this acquisition. 

4 This acquisition is not for the purpose of resale. 

5 The necessary applications relating to the compulsory acquisition including compensation 
determination be made to the Minister for Local Government and the Governor. 

6 Council seek priority processing of the application through the Office of Local Government, due to 
the state significance of the infrastructure and to avoid undue delays. 

7 Upon acquisition, Council dedicate proposed Lot 11 DP 1242770 as a road, pursuant to Section 10 
of the Roads Act 1993. 

8 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on all documents relevant to this 
matter, should it be required to give effect to this resolution. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Lucielle Power, Manager Property + Recreation (Acting)  
Authorised by: Kerry Hunt, Director Community Services - Creative and Innovative City  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Proposed Lot 11 DP 1242770 - Rear of Dapto High School 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

Council has been actively implementing the West Dapto Access Strategy for a number of years. 
Currently Council is constructing the Fowlers Road to Fairwater Drive link which forms part of this 
strategy. This stage of the project has been in the construction phase since August 2018 and affects the 
airspace above Mullet Creek known as proposed Lot 13 DP 1242770, the rear of Dapto High School, 
being proposed Lot 11 DP 1242770 as well as the airspace above the railway line. To be constructed 
within proposed Lot 11 is a four lane bridge span which, upon completion, will provide improved access 
to West Dapto. 

The land at the rear of Dapto High School is owned by the Department of Education (DoE). In 2017 the 
Principal for Dapto High School, on behalf of the DoE, entered into an agreement which allowed Council 
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to enter land and undertake public works which has permitted the construction of the bridge to 
commence whilst the acquisition of the land is finalised. 

Negotiations for the acquisition of the subject land have been ongoing since mid 2018. During this time, 
DoE had agreed to proceed by way of transfer, however, a number of months into the acquisition 
process, new advice was received confirming that due to internal processes, DoE was unable to transfer 
or sell the land to Council outside of the compulsory acquisition process. This is due to the land not 
being considered surplus to requirements. Despite this advice, a request has been made to DoE to seek 
Ministerial consent to agree to the disposal of the land by transfer with both parties to be bound by the 
value to be determined by the Valuer General to avoid the need to proceed by compulsory acquisition. 
DoE has agreed to seek Ministerial approval to the disposal of the land, however cannot guarantee that 
Ministerial consent will be provided. In the event Ministerial consent is not obtained by DoE to proceed 
via transfer, the acquisition will proceed by way of compulsory acquisition. This report seeks to obtain 
Council’s approval to proceed with the acquisition by either land transfer or compulsory acquisition, 
dependent on DoE obtaining the required approvals. 

Prior to DoE agreeing to seek Ministerial consent to proceed by way of transfer, DoE had originally 
suggested proceeding by compulsory acquisition pursuant to Section 30 of the Land Acquisition (Just 
Terms Compensation) Act 1991. By proceeding in this way, this removes the statutory waiting period 
requirement, thereby reducing the acquisition timeframe by four months. However, to proceed pursuant 
to Section 30 compensation for the acquisition must be agreed upon between the parties prior to the 
application being made to the Office of Local Government. 

Council obtained a market valuation report from an independent registered valuer, who assessed 
compensation at $20,000 plus disturbance. DoE obtained a valuation report, which assessed 
compensation at $200,000 plus disturbance. Due to the significant difference between the valuations and 
as per normal practice, each valuer agreed to attempt to come to an agreed value. Unfortunately, the 
attempt to agree on a compensation assessment was unsuccessful. Upon review, Council’s valuer 
amended its position with a compensation assessment of $44,000 plus disturbance, utilising a different 
agreed valuation approach. DoE’s appointed valuer sought to utilise the Valuer General’s land value 
assessment for the acquisition area, which reduced the compensation assessment from $200,000 to 
$91,885 plus disturbance. Council’s valuer could not recommend this approach, stating that the Valuer 
General’s land values are assessed on a mass valuation basis which may not take into account potential 
issues with the subject land. Council’s valuer held reservations due to the land’s bushfire and high-risk 
flood zoning, which would have prevented habitable development. Habitable development formed the 
basis of DoE’s valuer’s compensation assessment. It is expected that the Valuer General’s determination 
will fall within the range identified by both valuers. 

Due to the impasse in negotiations, both Council and DoE agreed to seek a compensation determination 
from the Valuer General and be bound by the determination. This would allow an application to be made 
to the Office of Local Government to obtain Ministerial and Governor Approval to the compulsory 
acquisition, with agreement. Unfortunately, DoE has not provided the Valuer General with requested 
confirmation that they will agree to be bound by the determination made. This, at the time of writing, has 
not yet been provided by DoE. 

Given the lengthy delay in negotiations, a further urgent request was put before DoE, at which time DoE 
agreed to seek the Ministerial consent, as mentioned previously. This process remains underway. 

PROPOSAL 

Council acquire for road purposes proposed Lot 11 DP 1242270, being Part Lot 1 DP 81501 either by 
transfer or compulsory process, with the Valuer General being appointed to determine the compensation 
payable to DoE. Following acquisition, proposed Lot 11 DP 1242270 be dedicated as public road 
pursuant to s. 10 of the Roads Act 1993. 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

Extensive community consultation has taken place in conjunction with the major project of which this 
acquisition forms part, including: a West Dapto Access Strategy billboard, newsletters, artist 
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impressions, 3D fly through video, variable messaging signs, displays and information packs. In addition 
to the communication methods listed above, numerous feedback opportunities were afforded to the 
community. This comprised of a range of engagement activities to target stakeholders including 
presentations, phone calls, door knocks, individual meetings, an on-site kiosk, a community information 
session and a pop up information stall. A comprehensive engagement report has been prepared and 
published by Council outlining in extensive detail the consultation and communication undertaken on the 
West Dapto Access Strategy project. 

Council has a dedicated website which provides up-to-date information on the progress of the project as 
well as Frequently Asked Questions, plans and videos specifically relating to the Fowlers Road to 
Fairwater Drive link project, which forms part of the overall West Dapto Access Strategy. 

A Land Status Report has been received from Info Track, confirming that native title has been 
extinguished over the subject land, pursuant to a Previous Exclusive Possession Act, being the grant of 
freehold land. This allows the DoE to proceed by transfer, provided Ministerial consent is obtained. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We have affordable and accessible 
transport”. 

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Transport Services Service Plan 
2019-20. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The compensation payable to DoE is to be determined by the Valuer General. Due to the significant 
difference in the valuation reports already sought, it is difficult to estimate the possible determination 
amount; however it is expected to fall within the range identified by both valuers. In any event, Council 
will be bound to pay the DoE just compensation as determined by the Land Acquisition (Just Terms 
Compensation) Act 1991. Such compensation will include the market value of the ‘land’, plus all 
reasonable legal and valuation costs again as determined by the Valuer General. It is estimated the cost 
of the Valuer General’s report will be in the order of $6,000. 

The funding for all costs associated with the acquisition will be via the 2019-2020 Capital Budget 
(B281319). 

CONCLUSION 

As the acquisition of the subject land forms an integral part of the Fowlers Road to Fairwater Drive 
extension project, it is recommended Council resolve as recommended. 
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Item 6 Minnegang Creek Flood Study (2019) - Lake Heights 

File: PJ-3078 Doc: IC19/631 

ITEM 6 MINNEGANG CREEK FLOOD STUDY (2019) - LAKE HEIGHTS 
  
The Minnegang Creek Flood Study (2019) went on public exhibition from 26 August 2019 through to 23 
September 2019 and has now been finalised. It is recommended Council adopt the Minnegang Creek 
Flood Study (2019) which will inform land use planning and planning certificates. 

This catchment is located in Lake Heights and drains to Lake Illawarra. The study improves the accuracy 
and reliability of flood levels and flood behaviour in the Minnegang Creek Catchment.  

The reports and flood models for the Minnegang Creek Flood Study (2019) will be placed on the NSW 
Flood data portal so that they can be publicly accessed. This will lead to a greater understanding of flood 
behaviour and risk and wiser decision making. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 That the Minnegang Creek Flood Study (2019) be adopted 
2 Persons who made submissions be thanked and advised of Council’s decision 
 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Mike Dowd, Manager Infrastructure Strategy + Planning  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Minnegang Creek Flood Study 2019 - Executive Summary 
2  Community engagement report - Minnegang Creek Flood Study 2019 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

The NSW Government’s Floodplain Development Manual provides a framework to ensure the 
sustainable use of floodplain environments and incorporates the NSW Flood Prone Policy. Under the 
Policy, the management of flood liable land remains the responsibility of Local Government with State 
Government subsidising flood mitigation works to alleviate existing problems and providing specialist 
technical advice to assist Councils in performing their floodplain management responsibilities.  

The Policy provides for technical and financial support by the State Government through five stages - 

1 Flood Study – Determines the nature and extent of flooding. 
2 Floodplain Risk Management Study – Evaluates risks and management options for the floodplain in 

respect of both existing and proposed development. 
3 Floodplain Risk Management Plan – Involves formal adoption by Council of a plan of management 

for the floodplain. 
4 Implementation of the Plan – voluntary house purchase, flood readiness and response plans, 

construction of flood mitigation works to protect existing development and use of planning controls 
(LEP, DCP) to ensure new development is compatible with the flood hazard.  

5 Review – reviews are recommended on average every 5 years and are also generally recommended 
after significant flood events, policy changes, or land use changes and where impediments to 
floodplain management plan implementation exist that warrant a review.  

Minnegang Creek Flood Study  

In 2017, Rhelm Pty Ltd was commissioned by Wollongong City Council (WCC) to review the Minnegang 
Creek Flood Study (2002) to take into consideration Council’s updated Conduit Blockage Policy (2016). 
The review incorporates new survey data, more detailed modelling techniques, the updated blockage 
factors, and additional development within the catchment located in Lake Heights. 

Attachment 1 is an executive summary of the final report recommended for adoption by Council. 
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The results show that the revised 1% AEP flood levels are similar to the 2002 Flood Study levels across 

most of the floodplain. The flood levels are generally slightly lower (less than 0.1m) compared to the 
2002 study, however flood levels have increased by up to 0.1m in isolated locations.  

PROPOSAL 

The Minnegang Creek Flood Study (2019) be adopted. After adoption, undertake the following actions: 

 Update the flood planning levels - Planning & Environment  

 Update of the relevant Section 10.7 planning certificate - Planning & Environment 

 Provide flood level information advice in accordance with new study results - Infrastructure & Works 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

On 1 August 2019, the draft flood study was presented to the Southern Floodplain Risk Management 
Committee who recommended public exhibition of the draft report. 

The final draft Flood Study Report went on public exhibition from 26 August 2019 through to 23 
September 2019. Also, 9 community members attended a community drop-in session from 9:30 am to 
11:00 am on Saturday 7 September at the Warrawong Community Centre.  

Mailed out a letter to 800 residents and property owners in flood affected areas (all properties within the 
extent of the probable maximum flood) to advise of the public exhibition process and seek feedback on 
the document.  

Notices of the public exhibition published in the local newspaper on 28 August and 4 September 2019. 
Hard copies of the Flood Study were placed in the Warrawong Library and PDFs were available through 
Council’s “Have Your Say” page. 28 people viewed the Website’s project page. 12 people downloaded 
the documents from the Website. No submissions we received throughout the exhibition period.  

A community engagement report is provided in attachment 2 and outlines in more detail the process and 
outcomes of the consultation. 

The committee has been advised of the outcomes of the public exhibition and has not raised any 
objection to Council adopting the final report. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We value and protect our 
environment”. It specifically delivers on the following:  

Community Strategic Plan Delivery Program 2018-2021 Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

1.1.3 The potential impacts of natural 
disasters, such as those related to 
flood and landslips are managed 
and risks are reduced to protect 
life, property and the environment 

1.1.3.2 Establish effective urban 
stormwater and floodplain 
management programs 

Develop and implement Floodplain Risk 
Management Plans 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Minnegang Creek Flood Study (2019) cost $84,383 excluding GST. The next stage in the flood 
planning process for this catchment, being the Floodplain Risk Management Study & Plan, will be funded 
from existing budget allocations with an application to be made for State Government grant funding. 

CONCLUSION 

The Minnegang Creek Flood Study (2019) was prepared with the cooperation, assistance and support of 
many stakeholders, including community members and State government representatives and the 
Northern Floodplain Risk Management Committee. 
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The study improves the accuracy and reliability of flood levels and flood behaviour in the Collins 
Creek Catchment. The reports and flood models for the Minnegang Creek Flood Study (2019) 
will be placed on the NSW Flood data portal so that they can be publicly accessed. This will 
lead to a greater understanding of flood behaviour and risk and wiser decision making. 
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Item 7 Kully Bay Overland Flow Study (2019) - Warrawong 

File: TR-560 Doc: IC19/632 

ITEM 7 KULLY BAY OVERLAND FLOW STUDY (2019) - WARRAWONG 
  
The Kully Bay Overland Flow Study (2019) was on exhibition from 26 August 2019 through to 23 
September 2019 and has now been finalised. It is recommended Council adopt the Kully Bay Overland 
Flow Study (2019) which will inform land use planning and planning certificates. 

This catchment is located in Warrawong, has no actual creek system and drains via overland flow paths 
to Lake Illawarra. A Council catchment wide flood or overland flow study for the Kully Bay Catchment 
has not previously been undertaken. 

The reports and flood models for the Kully Bay Overland Flow Study (2019) will be placed on the NSW 
Flood data portal so that they can be publicly accessed. This will lead to a greater understanding of flood 
behaviour and risk and wiser decision making. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 That the Kully Bay Overland Flow Study (2019) be adopted. 
 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Mike Dowd, Manager Infrastructure Strategy + Planning  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Kully Bay Overland Flow Study 2019 - Executive Summary 
2  Community engagement report - Kully Bay Overland Flow Study 2019 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

The NSW Government’s Floodplain Development Manual provides a framework to ensure the 
sustainable use of floodplain environments and incorporates the NSW Flood Prone Policy. Under the 
Policy, the management of flood liable land remains the responsibility of Local Government with State 
Government subsidising flood mitigation works to alleviate existing problems and providing specialist 
technical advice to assist Councils in performing their floodplain management responsibilities.  

The Policy provides for technical and financial support by the State Government through five stages - 

1 Flood Study – Determines the nature and extent of flooding. 

2 Floodplain Risk Management Study – Evaluates risks and management options for the floodplain in 
respect of both existing and proposed development. 

3 Floodplain Risk Management Plan – Involves formal adoption by Council of a plan of management 
for the floodplain. 

4 Implementation of the Plan – voluntary house purchase, flood readiness and response plans, 
construction of flood mitigation works to protect existing development and use of planning controls 
(LEP, DCP) to ensure new development is compatible with the flood hazard.  

5 Review – reviews are recommended on average every 5 years and are also generally recommended 
after significant flood events, policy changes, or land use changes and where impediments to 
floodplain management plan implementation exist that warrant a review.  

Kully Bay Overland Flow Study  

In 2017, Rhelm Pty Ltd was commissioned by Wollongong City Council (WCC) to complete the Kully Bay 
Overland Flow Study. The Kully Bay catchment has not previously been studied as part of a Council 
flood study. There are no creeks or rivers within the catchment, meaning that only overland flow needs to 
be studied and not creek-based flood behaviour. 

Attachment 1 provides an executive summary of the final report recommended for adoption by Council. 
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PROPOSAL 

The Kully Bay Overland Flow Study (2019) be adopted. After adoption, the following actions will be 
undertaken - 

 Update the flood planning levels – Planning & Environment  

 Update of the relevant Section 10.7 planning certificate – Planning & Environment 

 Provide flood level information advice in accordance with new study results – Infrastructure & Works 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

On 1 August 2019, the draft Overland Flow Study was presented to the Southern Floodplain Risk 
Management Committee who recommended public exhibition of the draft report. 

The final draft Overland Flow Study went on public exhibition 26 August 2019 to 23 September 2019. A 
community drop-in session at the Warrawong Community Centre on Saturday 7 September from 9:30 
am to 11:00 am and attended by 3 community members including SES volunteers and a floodplain 
management committee member.  

A letter to over 1000 residents, businesses and property owners in flood-affected areas (all properties 
within the extent of the probable maximum flood) was mailed out to advise of the public exhibition 
process and seek feedback on the document.  

Notices of the public exhibition were published in the local newspaper on 28 August and 4 September 
2019. Hard copies of the Flood Study were placed in the Warrawong Library and PDFs were available 
through Council’s “Have Your Say” page. 19 people viewed the Website’s project page. 9 people 
downloaded the documents from the Website. No submissions we received throughout the exhibition 
period.  

A community engagement report is provided in Attachment 2 and outlines in more detail the process and 
outcomes of the consultation. The committee has been advised of the outcomes of the public exhibition 
and has not raised any objection to Council adopting the final report. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We value and protect our 
environment”. It specifically delivers on the following:  

Community Strategic Plan Delivery Program 2018-2021 Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

1.1.3 The potential impacts of natural 
disasters, such as those related to 
flood and landslips are managed and 
risks are reduced to protect life, 
property and the environment 

1.1.3.2 Establish effective urban 
stormwater and floodplain 
management programs 

Develop and implement Floodplain 
Risk Management Plans 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Kully Bay Overland Flow Study (2019) cost $87,071 excluding GST. The next stage in the flood 
planning process for this catchment, being the Floodplain Risk Management Study & Plan, will be funded 
from existing budget allocations with an application to be made for State Government grant funding. 

CONCLUSION 

The Kully Bay Overland Flow Study (2019) was prepared with the cooperation, assistance and support 
of many stakeholders; including community members, State Government representatives, and the 
Southern Floodplain Risk Management Committee. 

The study provides flood levels and flood behaviour in the Kully Bay catchment. The reports and flood 
models for the Kully Bay Overland Flow Study (2019) will be placed on the NSW Flood Data Portal so 
that they can be publicly accessed. This will lead to a greater understanding of flood behaviour and risk 
and wiser decision making. 
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Item 8 Allans Creek Flood Study (2019) 

File: PJ-3183 Doc: IC19/633 

ITEM 8 ALLANS CREEK FLOOD STUDY (2019) 
  
The Allans Creek Flood Study (2019) went on public exhibition from 29 July 2019 through to 26 August 
2019 and is now finalised. It is recommended Council adopt the Allans Creek Flood Study (2019) which 
will inform land use planning and planning certificates. 

This catchment encompasses various suburbs including Mount Keira, Figtree, Mount Kembla, Kembla 
Heights, Cordeaux Heights, Unanderra and Port Kembla. It incorporates five main tributaries, namely, 
Byarong Creek, American Creek, Charcoal Creel, Allans Creek and the Unanderra Industrial Area 
Drains. The study improves the accuracy and reliability of flood levels and flood behaviour in the Allans 
Creek Catchment. 

The reports and flood models for the Allans Creek Flood Study (2019) will be placed on the NSW Flood 
data portal so that they can be publicly accessed. This will lead to a greater understanding of flood 
behaviour and risk and wiser decision making. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 That the Allans Creek Flood study (2019) be adopted 
2 That the Floodplain Risk Management Study & Plan for Allans Creek commence as a priority 
3 Persons who made submissions be thanked and advised of Council’s decision 
 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Mike Dowd, Manager Infrastructure Strategy + Planning  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Allans Creek Flood Study 2019 - Community Engagement Report 
2  Allans Creek Flood Study 2019 - Executive Summary 
3  Key Themes raised during public exhibition and Council's response 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

The NSW Government’s Floodplain Development Manual provides a framework to ensure the 
sustainable use of floodplain environments and incorporates the NSW Flood Prone Policy. Under the 
Policy, the management of flood liable land remains the responsibility of Local Government with State 
Government subsidising flood mitigation works to alleviate existing problems and providing specialist 
technical advice to assist Councils in performing their floodplain management responsibilities.  

The Policy provides for technical and financial support by the State Government through five stages: 

1 Flood Study – Determines the nature and extent of flooding. 

2 Floodplain Risk Management Study – Evaluates risks and management options for the floodplain in 
respect of both existing and proposed development. 

3 Floodplain Risk Management Plan – Involves formal adoption by Council of a plan of management 
for the floodplain. 

4 Implementation of the Plan – voluntary house purchase, flood readiness and response plans, 
construction of flood mitigation works to protect existing development and use of planning controls 
(LEP, DCP) to ensure new development is compatible with the flood hazard.  

5 Review – reviews are recommended on average every 5 years and are also generally recommended 
after significant flood events, policy changes, or land use changes and where impediments to 
floodplain management plan implementation exist that warrant a review.  
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Allans Creek Flood Study  

In 2017, Advisian was commissioned by Wollongong City Council (WCC) to review the Allans Creek 
Flood Study (2006) to take into consideration Council’s updated Conduit Blockage Policy (2016). The 
review incorporates new survey data, more detailed modelling techniques, the updated blockage factors, 
and additional development within the catchment. 

New hydrologic and hydraulic models have been developed and calibrated and verified to historic flood 
data to confirm their ability to simulate catchment flood behaviour. 

Attachment 1 to this report provides an executive summary of the final report recommended for adoption 
by Council. 

PROPOSAL 

The Allans Creek Flood Study (2019) be adopted. After adoption, undertake the following actions: 

 Update the flood planning levels - Planning & Environment  

 Update of the relevant Section 10.7 planning certificate - Planning & Environment 

 Provide flood level information advice in accordance with -new study results - Infrastructure & Works 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

On 26 June 2019, the draft flood study was presented to the Central Floodplain Risk Management 
Committee who recommended public exhibition of the draft report. 

The final draft Flood Study report went on public exhibition from 29 July 2019 through to 26 August 2019. 
Two community drop-in sessions were attended by 74 community members; the first on Wednesday, 7 
August 2019 from 4:00 pm – 5:30 pm at the Figtree Community Centre, and the second on Saturday, 10 
August 2019 from 10:30 am – 12 noon at the Berkeley Community Centre.  

Mailed out a letter to over 7,700 residents and property owners in flood affected areas (all properties 
within the extent of the probable maximum flood) to advise of the public exhibition process and seek 
feedback on the document.  

Notices of the public exhibition were published in the local newspaper on 31 July and 7 August 2019. 
Hard copies of the Flood Study and Frequently Asked Questions were placed at the Unanderra and 
Wollongong Libraries and PDFs were available through Council’s “Have Your Say” page. 200 people 
viewed the Website’s project page. 125 people downloaded the documents from the Website. There 
were a total of 26 submissions throughout the exhibition period.  

Comments from the submissions and at drop in sessions related to: 

 Australian Rainfall and Runoff 

 Flood modelling 

 Mapping 

 Observations of flooding  

 Creek maintenance  

 Flood mitigation 

 Flood Risk to individual properties 

 Perceived causes of flooding 

 1998 Floods 

 Planning / Development  

 Insurance premiums  

Persons who made a submission were thanked and advised of this matter being reported to Council for 
adoption. 

A community engagement report is provided in attachment 2 and outlines in more detail the process and 
outcomes of the consultation. 

Attachment 3 provides responses to all key themes raised during the consultation. 
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The comments provided can be addressed through on-going education on floodplain management, or 
considered as part of the future review of the floodplain risk management study and plan for the 
catchment. Some submissions were very technical in nature and were considered by the consultants, 
council’s flood engineers and flood experts from the NSW Government Department of Planning, Industry 
and Environment and resulted in additional information and clarifications being provided in the final 
report. 

On 17 October 2019, a presentation was provided to the Central Floodplain Risk Management  
Committee summarising the outcomes of the exhibition process and how submissions have been 
addressed. The Committee, by majority, recommended that the Allans Creek Flood study 2019 report be 
adopted by Council. 

The Northview Estate Flooding Residents Action Group (NEFRAG) representatives on the Committee 
did not support adoption of the plan by Council as the Flood Study does not apply the new National 
guidelines for flood estimation (AR&R 2016/19). This is consistent with the submission provided by 
NEFRAG during the exhibition period. Council has committed to implement AR&R 2016/19 as part of the 
review of the Floodplain Risk Management Study and Plans, with Allans Creek catchment being the first 
catchment to be reviewed, commencing in early 2020. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We Value and Protect our 
Environment”.  It specifically delivers on the following:  

Community Strategic Plan Delivery Program 2018-2021 Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

1.1.3 The potential impacts of natural 
disasters, such as those related to 
flood and landslips are managed 
and risks are reduced to protect 
life, property and the environment 

1.1.3.2  Establish effective urban 
stormwater and floodplain 
management programs 

Develop and implement Floodplain Risk 
Management Plans 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Allans Creek Flood Study (2019) cost $146,430 excluding GST. The next stage in the flood planning 
process for this catchment, being the Floodplain Risk Management Study & Plan, will be funded from 
existing budget allocations and an application has already been made to the State Government for grant 
funding. It is expected that the Floodplain Risk Management Study & Plan will commence in early 2020. 

CONCLUSION 

The Allans Creek Flood Study (2019) was prepared with the cooperation, assistance and support of 
many stakeholders, including community members and State government representatives and the 
Central Floodplain Risk Management Committee. 

The study improves the accuracy and reliability of flood levels and flood behaviour in the Allans Creek 
Catchment. The reports and flood models for the Allans Creek Flood Study (2019) will be placed on the 
NSW Flood data portal so that they can be publicly accessed. This will lead to a greater understanding of 
flood behaviour and risk and wiser decision making.  
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Item 9 Tender T19/18 - Demolition and Construction of Webb Park Amenities Building, Kanahooka 

File: FI-230.01.530 Doc: IC19/608 

ITEM 9 
TENDER T19/18 - DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION OF WEBB PARK AMENITIES 
BUILDING, KANAHOOKA 

  

This report recommends acceptance of a tender for the demolition and construction of Webb Park 
Amenities Building, Kanahooka, in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993 
and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Council has approximately 80 sports related buildings (excluding shelters) located on sport fields 
throughout the City.  The proposed works to Webb Park Amenities, Kanahooka allows for the demolition 
of the existing amenities and reconstruction of a new amenities building including disability compliant 
access. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 In accordance with clause 178(1)(a) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, Council 
accept the tender of Batmac Constructions Pty Ltd for Demolition and Construction of Webb Park 
Amenities, Kanahooka in the sum of $866,746.49, excluding GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the contract and any 
other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract and any other 
documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this resolution. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Glenn Whittaker, Manager Project Delivery  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Location Plan 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

The existing amenities no longer meet the service and functionality requirements of this busy sports field. 
The existing building contains a single change room, no storage, inadequate toilet facilities and is prone 
to vandalism. The existing amenities does not meet accessibility standards and has reached the end of 
its service life. 
The proposed new amenities will meet user group expectations, provide Disability Discrimination Act 
(DDA) compliance and adequately service current usage levels. A scope of works was prepared which 
includes –  

1 Demolition of the existing building including concrete paths and other associated services 

2 Construction of a new building (approximately 134 square metres) with a concrete slab roof for 
added security which will include: 

a. “home and away” gender neutral change rooms, with each including one (1) ambulant toilet, 
two (2) showers with private change area cubicles, benches to the perimeter and clothes 
hooks. 

b. One (1) separate fully compliant unisex DDA accessible public toilet and four (4) unisex 
toilets 

c. Referees facilities 

d. Two (2) storage spaces with roller shutters for sporting equipment 

e. Kiosk area fully fitted out with relevant fixtures to meet food safety requirements 
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f. All external doors and openings are secured with steel grilles 

g. Rainwater tank  

h. Sheltered covered area with bench seating to the western façade of the building 

i. Construction of new DDA compliant footpath to the new amenity 

j. Construction of a temporary construction bridge or culvert to provide access during works. 

The proposed works ensure that Council facilities are compliant with legislative requirements and that 
they offer community spaces with a high level of amenity, quality and compliance. 

Tenders were invited for this project by the open tender method with a close of tenders of 10.00 am on 
3 September 2019. 

Seven (7) tenders were received by the close of tenders and all tenders have been scrutinised and 
assessed by a Tender Assessment Panel constituted in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policies 
and Procedures and comprising representatives of the Governance and Customer Service, Finance, 
Project Delivery and Library and Community Services Divisions. 

The Tender Assessment Panel assessed all tenders in accordance with the following assessment 
criteria and weightings as set out in the formal tender documents: 

Mandatory Criteria 

1 Satisfactory references from referees for previous projects of similar size and scope  

2 Financial assessment acceptable to Council which demonstrates the tenderer’s financial capacity to 
undertake the works. 

Assessable Criteria 

1  Cost to Council – 45%  

2  Appreciation of scope of works and construction methodology – 15%  

3  Experience and satisfactory performance in projects of similar size, scope and risk profile – 10%  

4  Staff qualifications and experience – 5%  

5  Proposed sub-contractors – 5%  

6  Project Schedule – 5%  

7  Demonstrated strengthening of local economic capacity – 5%  

8  Workplace Health and Safety Management System – 5%  

9 Environmental Management Policies and Procedures – 5% 

The mandatory assessment criteria have been met by the recommended tenderer.  

The Tender Assessment Panel utilised a weighted scoring method for the assessment of tenders which 
allocates a numerical score out of 5 in relation to the level of compliance offered by the tenders to each 
of the assessment criteria as specified in the tender documentation.  The method then takes into account 
pre-determined weightings for each of the assessment criteria which provides for a total score out of 5 to 
be calculated for each tender.  The tender with the highest total score is considered to be the tender that 
best meets the requirements of the tender documentation in providing best value to Council.  Table 1 
below summarises the results of the tender assessment and the ranking of tenders. 
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TABLE 1 – SUMMARY OF TENDER ASSESSMENT 

Name of Tenderer  Ranking 

Batmac Constructions Pty Ltd 1 

Projection Build Pty Ltd 2 

Edwards Constructions (NSW) Pty Ltd 3 

Davone Constructions Pty Ltd 4 

Advanced Constructions Pty Ltd 5 

Project Coordination (Australia) Pty Ltd 6 

(T&C) Programmed Industrial Maintenance NC 

PROPOSAL 

Council should authorise the engagement of Batmac Constructions Pty Ltd to carry out the works in 
accordance with the scope of works and technical specifications developed for the project. 

The recommended tenderer has satisfied the Tender Assessment Panel that it is capable of undertaking 
the works to Council’s standards and in accordance with the technical specification. 

An acceptable financial capability assessment has been received in relation to the recommended 
tenderer. 

Referees nominated by the recommended tenderer have been contacted by the  
Tender Assessment Panel and expressed satisfaction with the standard of work and methods of 
operation undertaken on their behalf. 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

1 Members of the Tender Assessment Panel  

2 Nominated Referees 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal 4 “We are a connected and engaged 
community”. It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Asset Management 
Plans Service Plan 2019-20. 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

The risk in accepting the recommendation of this report is considered low on the basis that the tender 
process has fully complied with Council’s Procurement Policies and Procedures and the Local 
Government Act 1993. 

The risk of the project works or services is considered low based upon Council’s risk assessment matrix 
and appropriate risk management strategies will be implemented. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

It is proposed that the total project be funded from the following source/s as identified in the  
Annual Plan – 

Capital Budget 2019/20 

CONCLUSION 

The recommended tenderer has submitted an acceptable tender for this project and Council should 
endorse the recommendations of this report. 
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Item 10 Tender T19/19 - Demolition and Construction of Wiseman Park Amenities Building, Gwynneville 

File: FI-230.01.531 Doc: IC19/605 

ITEM 10 
TENDER T19/19 - DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION OF WISEMAN PARK AMENITIES 
BUILDING, GWYNNEVILLE 

  

This report recommends acceptance of a tender for the demolition and construction of the Wiseman 
Park Amenities Building, Gwynneville in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 
1993 and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Council has approximately 80 sports related buildings (excluding shelters) located on sport fields 
throughout the City.  The proposed works to Wiseman Park Amenities, Gwynneville allows for the 
demolition of the existing amenities and reconstruction of a new amenities building including disability 
compliant access. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 In accordance with clause 178(1)(a) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, Council 
accept the tender of Batmac Constructions Pty Ltd for demolition and construction of Wiseman Park 
Amenities, Gwynneville in the sum of $796,048.23, excluding GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the contract and any 
other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract and any other 
documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this resolution. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Glenn Whittaker, Manager Project Delivery  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Location Plan 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

The existing amenities are no longer serviceable and have reached the end of their service life. All 
masonry components including walls and floors have major structural cracking borne from movement 
due to previous footing failure. The current condition and configuration of the building fails to meet user 
group expectations and needs. 

There are currently no compliant amenities in the Wiseman Park Precinct and the proposed new 
Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) compliant amenity will adequately service expected usage levels to 
both the adjoining playground and sports field. A scope of works was prepared to rectify these issues 
including –  

 Demolition of the existing building including concrete paths and other associated services. 

 Construction of a new building (approximately 122 square metres) which will include: 

o “home and away” gender neutral change rooms, with each including one (1) ambulant 

toilets, three (3) showers with private change area cubicles, benches to the perimeter and 
clothes hooks 

o One (1) separate fully compliant unisex DDA accessible public toilet programmable to 

self-open and close 

o Three (3) storage spaces with roller shutters for sporting equipment 

o Rainwater tank 
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o Sheltered covered area facing the sportsfield 

o Construction of new DDA compliant carpark and footpath to the new amenity 

o Removal of one (1) tree, a Eucalyptus Teriticornis adjoining the building platform 

o Construction of a ramp and retaining wall on northern side 

o Landscaping 

The proposed works ensure that Council facilities are compliant with legislative requirements and that 
they offer community spaces with a high level of amenity, quality and compliance. 

Tenders were invited for this project by the open tender method with a close of tenders of 10.00 am on 
3 September 2019. 

Ten (10) tenders were received by the close of tenders and all tenders have been scrutinised and 
assessed by a Tender Assessment Panel constituted in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policies 
and Procedures and comprising representatives of the Governance and Customer Service, Finance, 
Project Delivery and Library and Community Services Divisions. 

The Tender Assessment Panel assessed all tenders in accordance with the following assessment 
criteria and weightings as set out in the formal tender documents: 

Mandatory Criteria 

1 Satisfactory references from referees for previous projects of similar size and scope  

2 Financial assessment acceptable to Council which demonstrates the tenderer’s financial capacity to 
undertake the works. 

Assessable Criteria 

1  Cost to Council – 45%  

2  Appreciation of scope of works and construction methodology – 15%  

3  Experience and satisfactory performance in projects of similar size, scope and risk profile – 10%  

4  Staff qualifications and experience – 5%  

5  Proposed sub-contractors – 5%  

6  Project Schedule – 5%  

7  Demonstrated strengthening of local economic capacity – 5%  

8  Workplace Health and Safety Management System – 5%  

9 Environmental Management Policies and Procedures – 5% 

The mandatory assessment criteria have been met by the recommended tenderer.  

The Tender Assessment Panel utilised a weighted scoring method for the assessment of tenders which 
allocates a numerical score out of 5 in relation to the level of compliance offered by the tenders to each 
of the assessment criteria as specified in the tender documentation.  The method then takes into account 
pre-determined weightings for each of the assessment criteria which provides for a total score out of 5 to 
be calculated for each tender.  The tender with the highest total score is considered to be the tender that 
best meets the requirements of the tender documentation in providing best value to Council.  Table 1 
below summarises the results of the tender assessment and the ranking of tenders. 
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TABLE 1 – SUMMARY OF TENDER ASSESSMENT 

Name of Tenderer  Ranking 

Batmac Constructions Pty Ltd 1 

Matrix Group Pty Ltd 2 

Edwards Constructions (NSW) Pty Ltd 3 

Projection Build Pty Ltd 4 

Sullivans Constructions 5 

Davone Constructions Pty Ltd 6 

Project Coordination (Australia) Pty Ltd 7 

Advanced Constructions Pty Ltd 8 

Peloton Constructions Pty Ltd 9 

(T&C) Programmed Industrial Maintenance Non Conforming 

PROPOSAL 

Council should authorise the engagement of Batmac Constructions Pty Ltd to carry out the works in 
accordance with the scope of works and technical specifications developed for the project. 

The recommended tenderer has satisfied the Tender Assessment Panel that it is capable of undertaking 
the works to Council’s standards and in accordance with the technical specification. 

An acceptable financial capability assessment has been received in relation to the recommended 
tenderer. Referees nominated by the recommended tenderer have been contacted by the  
Tender Assessment Panel and expressed satisfaction with the standard of work and methods of 
operation undertaken on their behalf. 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

1 Members of the Tender Assessment Panel  

2 Nominated Referees 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal 4 “We are a connected and engaged 
community”. It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Asset Management 
Plans Service Plan 2019-20. 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

The risk in accepting the recommendation of this report is considered low on the basis that the tender 
process has fully complied with Council’s Procurement Policies and Procedures and the Local 
Government Act 1993. The risk of the project works or services is considered low based upon Council’s 
risk assessment matrix and appropriate risk management strategies will be implemented. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

It is proposed that the total project be funded from the following source/s as identified in the  
Annual Plan – 

Capital Budget 2019/20 
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CONCLUSION 

The recommended tenderer has submitted an acceptable tender for this project and Council should 
endorse the recommendations of this report. 
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Item 11 Tender T19/21 - Water Main Installation - Wongawilli Road Reconstruction 

File: FI-230.01.533 Doc: IC19/603 

ITEM 11 
TENDER T19/21 - WATER MAIN INSTALLATION - WONGAWILLI ROAD 
RECONSTRUCTION 

  

The water main works are required as part of the ongoing Wongawilli Road Upgrade Project. This project 
includes upgrade of the culverts at Mullet Creek and to accommodate the larger culverts two existing 
water mains, which service the growing Wongawilli Community, need to be lowered at this location. 

This report recommends acceptance of a tender for the installation of two water mains at lowered levels 
at the intersection of Shone Avenue and Wongawilli Road, Wongawilli, in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1993 and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

These works require a completion to specifications approved by Sydney Water. As such, this tender 
called for Sydney Water SW2 pre-qualified contractors.  

  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 In accordance with clause 178(1)(a) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, Council 
accept the tender of Cadifern Pty Ltd for the installation of two water mains at lowered levels at the 
intersection of Shone Avenue and Wongawilli Road, Wongawilli, in the sum of $421,387, excluding 
GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the contract and any 
other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract and any other 
documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this resolution. 

 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Mark Roebuck, Manager City Works  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Locality Map 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

The Wongawilli Road Upgrade is an ongoing project currently programmed for completion in early 2021. 
The project has required a number of utility service works packages to be completed prior to the 
construction of stormwater assets and road widening. Works to relocate and upgrade the DN150 service 
on the southern side of Wongawilli Road was completed in April 2019. This was one of three water main 
projects required to facilitate the road upgrade. This tender is for the remaining two mains at the Mullet 
Creek crossing.  

Tenders were invited for this project by the open tender method with a close of tenders of 10.00am on 
Tuesday 3 September 2019. 

Five tenders were received by the close of tenders and all tenders have been scrutinised and assessed 
by a Tender Assessment Panel constituted in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policies and 
Procedures and comprising representatives of the City Works, Project Delivery and Governance + 
Customer Service Divisions. 

The Tender Assessment Panel assessed all tenders in accordance with the following assessment 
criteria and weightings as set out in the formal tender documents: 
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Mandatory Criteria  

1 Sydney Water SW2 Prequalification; 

2 Satisfactory references from referees for previous projects of similar size and scope;  

3 Financial assessment acceptable to Council which demonstrates the tenderer’s financial capacity to 
undertake the works. 

Assessable Criteria 

1 Cost to Council – 40%; 

2 Appreciation of scope of works and construction methodology – 15%; 

3 Experience and satisfactory performance in undertaking projects of similar size, scope and risk 
profile – 20%; 

4 Staff qualifications and experience including proposed sub-contractors – 5%; 

5 Project Schedule – 10%; 

6 Demonstrated strengthening of local economic capacity – 5%; 

7 Workplace health and safety management system and environmental management policies and 
procedures – 5%. 

The mandatory assessment criteria have been met by the recommended tenderer.  

The Tender Assessment Panel utilised a weighted scoring method for the assessment of tenders which 
allocates a numerical score out of 5 in relation to the level of compliance offered by the tenders to each 
of the assessment criteria as specified in the tender documentation.  The method then takes into account 
pre-determined weightings for each of the assessment criteria which provides for a total score out of 5 to 
be calculated for each tender.  The tender with the highest total score is considered to be the tender that 
best meets the requirements of the tender documentation in providing best value to Council. 

Table 1 below summarises the results of the tender assessment and the ranking of tenders. 

 

TABLE 1 – SUMMARY OF TENDER ASSESSMENT 

Name of Tenderer  Ranking 

Cadifern Pty Ltd  1 

Glennos Constructions Pty Ltd 2 

Downer Pipe Tech Pty Ltd 3 

Aqua Options Pty Ltd 4 

Precision Pipe Networks Pty Ltd NON CONFORMING 

PROPOSAL 

Council authorise the engagement of Cadifern Pty Ltd to carry out the water main installation in 
accordance with the scope of works and technical specifications developed for the project. 

The recommended tenderer has satisfied the Tender Assessment Panel that it is capable of undertaking 
the works to Council’s standards and in accordance with the technical specification. 

An acceptable financial capability assessment has been received in relation to the recommended 
tenderer. 
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Referees nominated by the recommended tenderer have been contacted by the  
Tender Assessment Panel and expressed satisfaction with the standard of work and methods of 
operation undertaken on their behalf. 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

1 Members of the Tender Assessment Panel;  

2 Nominated Referees; 

3 External Consultants – Equifax Australasia Credit Ratings Pty Ltd. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We have affordable and accessible 
transport”. 

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Infrastructure Planning and Support 
Service Plan 2018-2021. 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

The risk in accepting the recommendation of this report is considered low on the basis that the tender 
process has fully complied with Council’s Procurement Policies and Procedures and the Local 
Government Act 1993. 

The risk of the project works or services is considered H10, based upon Council’s risk assessment 
matrix and appropriate risk management strategies will be implemented.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

It is proposed that the total project be funded from the following source/s as identified in the  
Operational and Capital Budget 2019-2022 –  

Capital Budget 2019/2020 

Developer Contributions – West Dapto 

Infrastructure NSW – Restart NSW – Wongawilli Access Project - RNSW1081 

CONCLUSION 

The recommended tenderer has submitted an acceptable tender for this project and Council is requested 
to endorse the recommendations of this report. 
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Item 12 Tender T19/22 - Proposed Construction of a Retaining Wall along the Divided Carriageway at Iris Avenue, Coniston 

File: FI-230.01.534 Doc: IC19/623 

ITEM 12 
TENDER T19/22 - PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF A RETAINING WALL ALONG THE 
DIVIDED CARRIAGEWAY AT IRIS AVENUE, CONISTON 

  

This report recommends acceptance of a tender for the construction of a retaining wall and associated 
earthworks, fencing and drainage along Iris Avenue, Coniston in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 1993 and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

The purpose of the works is to stabilise a large embankment between the divided carriageway at the 
southern end of Iris Avenue, Coniston through the construction of improved geotechnical, structural and 
drainage infrastructure. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 In accordance with clause 178(1)(a) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, Council 
accept the tender of Cadifern Pty Ltd for the construction of a retaining wall and associated 
earthworks, fencing and drainage along Iris Avenue, Coniston in the sum of $690,953.50, excluding 
GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the contract and any 
other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract and any other 
documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this resolution. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Glenn Whittaker, Manager Project Delivery  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Locality Map 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

Council in 2017 has previously constructed a temporary concrete block retaining wall following a 
localised slippage which occurred on the steeply sloped embankment of the divided carriageway in Iris 
Avenue Coniston.  The current temporary treatment was an interim measure and a long-term solution is 
required to maintain the stability of the roadway along Iris Avenue for local residents and other road 
users.  This project is to ensure the long-term stability of the embankment between the divided 
carriageway at Iris Avenue, Coniston.  

The works involve demolition of existing retaining structures, excavation and removal of unsuitable fill 
materials and replacement with engineering fill, a new concrete sleeper retaining wall approximately 80m 
long and up to 2.4m high, drainage works, fencing, landscaping and minor road works. 

Tenders were invited for this project by the open tender method with a close of tenders of 10.00 am on 
13 August 2019. 

Ten (10) tenders were received by the close of tenders and all tenders have been scrutinised and 
assessed by a Tender Assessment Panel constituted in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policies 
and Procedures and comprising representatives of the Project Delivery, Infrastructure, Strategy and 
Planning, Finance and Governance and Customer Service Divisions. 

The Tender Assessment Panel assessed all tenders in accordance with the following assessment 
criteria and weightings as set out in the formal tender documents: 
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Mandatory Criteria  

1 Satisfactory references from referees for previous projects of similar size and scope  

2 Financial assessment acceptable to Council which demonstrates the tenderer’s financial capacity to 
undertake the works  

Assessable Criteria 

1 Cost to Council – 40% 

2 Appreciation of scope of works and construction methodology – 20% 

3 Experience and satisfactory performance in undertaking projects of size, scope and risk profile – 
10% 

4 Staff qualifications and experience – 5% 

5 Proposed sub-contractors – 5% 

6 Project Schedule – 5% 

7 Demonstrated strengthening of local economic capacity – 5% 

8 Workplace Health and Safety Management System – 5% 

9 Environmental Management Policies and Procedures – 5% 

The mandatory assessment criteria have been met by the recommended tenderer.  

The Tender Assessment Panel utilised a weighted scoring method for the assessment of tenders which 
allocates a numerical score out of 5 in relation to the level of compliance offered by the tenders to each 
of the assessment criteria as specified in the tender documentation.  The method then takes into account 
pre-determined weightings for each of the assessment criteria which provides for a total score out of 5 to 
be calculated for each tender.  The tender with the highest total score is considered to be the tender that 
best meets the requirements of the tender documentation in providing best value to Council.  Table 1 
below summarises the results of the tender assessment and the ranking of tenders. 

TABLE 1 – SUMMARY OF TENDER ASSESSMENT 

Name of Tenderer  Ranking 

Cadifern Pty Ltd 1 

Donnelley Civil Pty Ltd 2 

Josluk Pty Ltd 3 

Select Civil Pty Ltd 4 

GC Civil Contracting Pty Ltd 5 

Dynamic Civil Pty Ltd 6 

Collective Civil Pty Ltd 7 

Piling & Concreting Australia (PCA) Pty Ltd 8 

Civil Mechanical Engineering Contractors Pty Ltd WITHDRAWN 

Adbri Masonry NON-CONFORMING 

PROPOSAL 

Council should authorise the engagement of Cadifern Pty Ltd to carry out the construction of a retaining 
wall and associated earthworks and drainage along Iris Avenue, Coniston in accordance with the scope 
of works and technical specifications developed for the project. 

The recommended tenderer has satisfied the Tender Assessment Panel that it is capable of undertaking 
the works to Council’s standards and in accordance with the technical specification. 
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An acceptable financial capability assessment has been received in relation to the recommended 
tenderer. 

Referees nominated by the recommended tenderer have been contacted by the  
Tender Assessment Panel and expressed satisfaction with the standard of work and methods of 
operation undertaken on their behalf. 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

1 Members of the Tender Assessment Panel  

2 Nominated Referees 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal 6 “We have affordable and 
accessible transport”.  It specifically delivers on the following:  

Community Strategic Plan Delivery Program 2018-2021 Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

6.3.2 Maintain the service levels of our 
roads, footpaths and cycle ways to an 
acceptable standard 

6.3.2.1 Deliver sustainable 
transport asset renewal 
programs and projects 

Deliver the road resurfacing and 
reconstruction program 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

The risk in accepting the recommendation of this report is considered low on the basis that the tender 
process has fully complied with Council’s Procurement Policies and Procedures and the Local 
Government Act 1993. 

The risk of the project works or services is considered medium based upon Council’s risk assessment 
matrix and appropriate risk management strategies will be implemented. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

It is proposed that the total project be funded from the following source/s as identified in the  
Annual Plan – 

Capital Budget 2019/20 

CONCLUSION 

The recommended tenderer has submitted an acceptable tender for this project and Council should 
endorse the recommendations of this report. 
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Item 13 Tender T19/24 - Proposed Replacement of Retaining Wall along the Laneway Connecting Bellevue Road to Outlook Drive, Figtree 

File: FI-230.01.537 Doc: IC19/626 

ITEM 13 
TENDER T19/24 - PROPOSED REPLACEMENT OF RETAINING WALL ALONG THE 
LANEWAY CONNECTING BELLEVUE ROAD TO OUTLOOK DRIVE, FIGTREE 

  

This report recommends acceptance of a tender for the replacement of two failing retaining walls along 
the laneway connecting Bellevue Road and Outlook Drive, Figtree in accordance with the requirements 
of the Local Government Act 1993 and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

The purpose of the works is to replace existing deteriorated concrete sleeper and timber retaining walls 
that run along the laneway connecting Bellevue Road and Outlook Drive with a new masonry block 
retaining wall with associated works. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 In accordance with clause 178(1)(a) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, Council 
accept the tender of Growth Civil Landscapes Pty Ltd for the replacement retaining wall on the 
laneway connecting Bellevue Road and Outlook Drive, in the sum of $137,281.50, excluding GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the contract and any 
other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract and any other 
documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this resolution. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Glenn Whittaker, Manager Project Delivery  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Locality Map 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

The existing retaining walls along the laneway connecting Bellevue Road and Outlook Drive, Figtree 
have deteriorated and require replacement to ensure future stability of the retained embankment. 

The purpose of the project is to provide a long-term solution for the retaining structure in maintaining the 
safe use of the laneway. 

The works involve demolition of the existing walls, excavation and removal of unsuitable fill material, 
concrete encasement of a Sydney Water sewer main, realigning an Endeavour Energy power cable to 
an adjacent street light, installation of new footings and retaining wall with associated landscaping.  The 
new masonry block wall is 39 metres long and less than 1 metre in height at the maximum point. 

Tenders were invited for this project by the open tender method with a close of tenders of 10.00 am on 
13 August 2019. 

Five (5) tenders were received by the close of tenders and all tenders have been scrutinised and 
assessed by a Tender Assessment Panel constituted in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policies 
and Procedures and comprising representatives of the Project Delivery, Infrastructure, Strategy and 
Planning, Finance and Governance and Customer Service Divisions. 

The Tender Assessment Panel assessed all tenders in accordance with the following assessment 
criteria and weightings as set out in the formal tender documents: 

Mandatory Criteria  

1 Satisfactory references from referees for previous projects of similar size and scope  
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Assessable Criteria 

1 Cost to Council – 40% 

2 Appreciation of scope of works and construction methodology – 15% 

3 Experience and satisfactory performance in undertaking projects of similar size, scope and risk 
profile – 10% 

4 Staff qualifications and experience – 5% 

5 Proposed sub-contractors – 10% 

6 Project Schedule – 5% 

7 Demonstrated strengthening of local economic capacity – 5% 

8 Workplace Health and Safety Management System – 5% 

9 Environmental Management Policies and Procedures – 5% 

The mandatory assessment criteria has been met by the recommended tenderer.  

The Tender Assessment Panel utilised a weighted scoring method for the assessment of tenders which 
allocates a numerical score out of 5 in relation to the level of compliance offered by the tenders to each 
of the assessment criteria as specified in the tender documentation.  The method then takes into account 
pre-determined weightings for each of the assessment criteria which provides for a total score out of 5 to 
be calculated for each tender.  The tender with the highest total score is considered to be the tender that 
best meets the requirements of the tender documentation in providing best value to Council.  Table 1 
below summarises the results of the tender assessment and the ranking of tenders. 

TABLE 1 – SUMMARY OF TENDER ASSESSMENT 

Name of Tenderer  Ranking 

Growth Civil Landscapes Pty Ltd 1 

Cadifern Pty Ltd 2 

Donnelley Civil Pty Ltd 3 

GC Civil Contracting Pty Ltd 4 

Civil Mechanical Engineering Contractors Pty Ltd 5 

PROPOSAL 

Council should authorise the engagement of Growth Civil Landscapes Pty Ltd to carry out the 
replacement of the retaining wall along the laneway connecting Bellevue Road and Outlook Drive in 
accordance with the scope of works and technical specifications developed for the project. 

The recommended tenderer has satisfied the Tender Assessment Panel that it is capable of undertaking 
the works to Council’s standards and in accordance with the technical specification. 

Referees nominated by the recommended tenderer have been contacted by the  
Tender Assessment Panel and expressed satisfaction with the standard of work and methods of 
operation undertaken on their behalf. 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

1 Members of the Tender Assessment Panel  

2 Nominated Referees 
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PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal 6 “We have affordable and 
accessible transport”.  It specifically delivers on the following:  

Community Strategic Plan Delivery Program 2018-2021 Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

6.3.2 Maintain the service levels of our 
roads, footpaths and cycle ways to an 
acceptable standard 

6.3.2.1 Deliver sustainable 
transport asset renewal 
programs and projects 

Implement footpath and cycleway 
improvement programs 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

The risk in accepting the recommendation of this report is considered low on the basis that the tender 
process has fully complied with Council’s Procurement Policies and Procedures and the Local 
Government Act 1993. 

The risk of the project works or services is considered medium based upon Council’s risk assessment 
matrix and appropriate risk management strategies will be implemented. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

It is proposed that the total project be funded from the following source/s as identified in the  
Annual Plan – 

Capital Budget 2019/20 

CONCLUSION 

The recommended tenderer has submitted an acceptable tender for this project and Council should 
endorse the recommendations of this report. 
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Item 14 Tender T19/28 - Sportsfield Lighting Installation to Harry Graham Park, Figtree, Figtree Oval No. 2, Figtree and Elizabeth Park, Bellambi 

File: FI-230.01.543 Doc: IC19/629 

ITEM 14 
TENDER T19/28 - SPORTSFIELD LIGHTING INSTALLATION TO HARRY GRAHAM PARK, 
FIGTREE, FIGTREE OVAL NO. 2, FIGTREE AND ELIZABETH PARK, BELLAMBI 

  

This report recommends acceptance of a tender for sports field lighting installations at three sites (3) 
within the city in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993 and the Local 
Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Council has 43 locations (67 fields in total) in the City where sport field lighting has been installed to 
cater for the increased sporting demands of the community.  The proposed works will facilitate the 
installation of LED sports field lighting at Harry Graham Park, Figtree, Figtree Oval No.2, Figtree and 
Elizabeth Park, Bellambi to meet the increasing demands of football (soccer) within the city. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 In accordance with clause 178(1)(a) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, Council 
accept the tender of Central West Electrical Contractors Pty Ltd for lighting installation to Harry 
Graham Park, Figtree, Figtree Oval No. 2, Figtree and Elizabeth Park, Bellambi, in the sum of 
$911,390.00, excluding GST. 

2 Council delegate to the General Manager the authority to finalise and execute the contract and any 
other documentation required to give effect to this resolution. 

3 Council grant authority for the use of the Common Seal of Council on the contract and any other 
documentation, should it be required, to give effect to this resolution. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Glenn Whittaker, Manager Project Delivery  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Location Plans 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

Council’s Sports Ground and Sporting Facilities Strategy (2017-2021) identifies ‘lighting at sports 
grounds’ as one of the most significant assets that require upgrading to meet the increasing demand and 
use from existing sporting clubs. Installing new lighting at existing sports grounds provides greater 
opportunities for sporting clubs to train and play at night and encourage greater participation in 
community sporting events. New lighting increases the standard of existing facilities and allows a 
significant increase in the number of games that can be played during the football season. 

Utilising the Council’s Sports Ground and Sporting Facilities Strategy recommendation, the installation of 
sports field lighting at Harry Graham Park, Figtree and Figtree Oval No. 2, Figtree was prioritised to meet 
the demands of football in the southern suburbs. 

Council had originally programmed for the upgrading of lighting at Elizabeth Park sports field at Bellambi 
during the 2020/21 financial year.  Early in 2019, Bellambi Football Club, who lease Elizabeth Park 
sports field at Bellambi applied for and were successful in obtaining a NSW Government Community 
Building Partnerships (CBP) Grant to the value of $65,000. During the tender process Bellambi Football 
Club advised Council they had received advice from the NSW Government stating that all CBP 2018 
grant projects must be completed by 31 March 2020. To ensure Council can meet the grant funding 
milestones and maximise economic advantage of collective tendering, Council during the tender period, 
issued an addendum that included a $300,000 Provisional Sum, for the sports field lighting installation to 
Elizabeth Park, Bellambi. This will allow Council to place orders for the lights and poles which have a 
substantial delivery time while finalising the geotechnical investigation at the Bellambi site. 
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Tenders were invited for this project by the open tender method with a close of tenders of 10.00 am on 
17 September 2019. 

Four (4) tenders were received by the close of tenders and all tenders have been scrutinised and 
assessed by a Tender Assessment Panel constituted in accordance with Council’s Procurement Policies 
and Procedures and comprising representatives of the Project Delivery, City Works, Property and 
Recreation, Finance and Governance + Customer Service Divisions. 

The Tender Assessment Panel assessed all tenders in accordance with the following assessment 
criteria and weightings as set out in the formal tender documents: 

Mandatory Criteria 

1 Satisfactory references from referees for previous projects of similar size and scope 

 

2 Financial assessment acceptable to Council which demonstrates the tenderer’s financial capacity to 
undertake the works  

Assessable Criteria and Weightings 

1 Cost to Council – 45% 

2 Appreciation of scope of works and construction methodology – 15% 

3 Experience and satisfactory performance in undertaking projects of similar size, scope and risk 
profile – 10% 

4 Staff Qualifications and experience – 5 % 

5 Proposed Subcontractors – 5% 

6 Project Schedule – 5% 

7 Demonstrated strengthening of local economic capacity – 5% 

8 Workplace Health and Safety Management System – 5% 

9 Environmental management policies and procedures – 5% 

The mandatory assessment criteria have been met by the recommended tenderer.  

The Tender Assessment Panel utilised a weighted scoring method for the assessment of tenders which 
allocates a numerical score out of 5 in relation to the level of compliance offered by the tenders to each 
of the assessment criteria as specified in the tender documentation.  The method then takes into account 
pre-determined weightings for each of the assessment criteria which provides for a total score out of 5 to 
be calculated for each tender.  The tender with the highest total score is considered to be the tender that 
best meets the requirements of the tender documentation in providing best value to Council.  Table 1 
below summarises the results of the tender assessment and the ranking of tenders. 

TABLE 1 – SUMMARY OF TENDER ASSESSMENT 

Name of Tenderer  Ranking 

Central West Electrical Contractors Pty Ltd 1 

ARA Electrical high Voltage Pty Ltd T/A Transelect 2 

Havencord Pty Ltd T/A Floodlighting Australia 3 

ETE Services Pty Ltd NON-CONFORMING 

PROPOSAL 

Council should authorise the engagement of Central West Electrical Contractors Pty Ltd to carry out the 
works in accordance with the scope of works and technical specifications developed for the project. 
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The recommended tenderer has satisfied the Tender Assessment Panel that it is capable of undertaking 
the works to Council’s standards and in accordance with the technical specification. 

An acceptable financial capability assessment has been received in relation to the recommended 
tenderer. 

Referees nominated by the recommended tenderer have been contacted by the  
Tender Assessment Panel and expressed satisfaction with the standard of work and methods of 
operation undertaken on their behalf. 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

1 Members of the Tender Assessment Panel  

2 Nominated Referees 

3 External Consultants – Paul Anthony Electrical 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal 4 “We are a connected and engaged 
community”. It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Asset Management 
Plans Service Plan 2019-20. 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

The risk in accepting the recommendation of this report is considered low on the basis that the tender 
process has fully complied with Council’s Procurement Policies and Procedures and the Local 
Government Act 1993. 

The risk of the project works or services is considered low based upon Council’s risk assessment matrix 
and appropriate risk management strategies will be implemented. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

It is proposed that the total project be funded from the following source/s as identified in the  
Annual Plan – 

2019/20 Capital Budget 

CONCLUSION 

The recommended tenderer has submitted an acceptable tender for this project and Council should 
endorse the recommendations of this report. 
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Item 15 Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2019 - Post Advertising 

File: FI-914.05.001 Doc: IC19/652 

ITEM 15 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 - POST 
ADVERTISING 

  
This report is provided to formally present Council’s Financial Statements for the year ended 
30 June 2019, together with the Auditor’s Report to the public, in accordance with Section 419 of the 
Local Government Act 1993 (as amended). 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 The audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019, together with the Auditor’s 
report, be presented to the public. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Brian Jenkins, Chief Financial Officer  
Authorised by: Renee Campbell, Director Corporate Services - Connected + Engaged City  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

Council’s Auditors, Audit Office of NSW, addressed the Council meeting of 23 September 2019 outlining 
the financial result for the year ended 30 June 2019 as reflected in the Financial Statements. Council 
resolved that the audited Financial Statements and the Auditor’s Report be presented to the public at this 
Council meeting. 

Public Notice of the presentation of the audited Financial Statements at this meeting was given in 
The Advertiser on 9 October 2019 and was also on Council’s website from 9 October 2019. 

Copies of the audited Financial Statements are available for inspection by members of the public at 
Council’s Administration Building and any person can make written submissions to Council with respect 
to the Statements within the next seven-day period. Any submissions received will be subsequently 
reported to Council. 

PROPOSAL 

The audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019, together with the Auditor’s Report, 
be presented to the public at this meeting. 

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

The Director, Financial Audit Services, the Audit Leader and staff of the Audit Office of NSW have been 
consulted throughout the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements. 

Executive, senior managers and relevant senior officers were requested to ensure that all appropriate 
information with regards to the 2018-2019 transactions relating to their area/s of responsibility had either 
been entered into the financial records or disclosed. 

The Annual Financial Statements were presented to the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee on 
17 September 2019 and to Council on 23 September 2019. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Wollongong 2022 goal ‘We are a connected and engaged 
community’. It specifically delivers on the following: 
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Community Strategic Plan 
Delivery Program 

2018-2021 
Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

4.3.2 Resources 
(finance, 
technology, assets 
and people) are 
effectively 
managed to ensure 
long term financial 
sustainability 

4.3.2.1 Effective and 
transparent 
financial 
management 
systems are in 
place 

Monitor and review achievement of Financial Strategy 

Continuous budget management is in place, controlled and 
reported 

Provide accurate and timely financial reports monthly, quarterly 
and via the annual statement 

Manage and further develop a compliance program to promote 
awareness and compliance with Council’s procurement policies 
and procedures and other related policies 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

The Annual Financial Statements are required to be prepared in accordance with the Local Government 
Act 1993 (as amended), the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting 
and the Australian Accounting Standards. Council has professionally qualified staff to ensure compliance 
with the reporting requirements. Council staff have also undertaken additional training in specialised 
areas. A higher level of assurance is attained from Council’s auditors, Audit Office of NSW. 

Further to this, Council’s Executive, senior management and relevant senior officers each signed a 
document giving the necessary assurances that: 

1 No matters or occurrences have come to their attention in respect to their areas of responsibility that 
would materially affect the Financial Statements or disclosures therein, or which are likely to 
materially affect the future results or operations of the Council. 

2 Should any such matters or occurrences come to their attention after the date of signing the 
document, the Chief Financial Officer will be immediately advised. 

Consequently, there is considered to be a low risk of any material errors or omissions in reporting. 

CONCLUSION 

The audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019, together with the Auditor’s Report, 
are available for presentation to the public at this meeting. 
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Financial Commentary 2018-2019

2018-2019 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW 
This report provides an overview of Council’s 2018-2019 Financial Statements.  The Financial 
Statements are prepared by Council to provide information in relation to Council’s financial performance 
and position.  The Statements are prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the 
NSW Local Government Act 1993 and the NSW Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and 
Financial Reporting (Update No 27).  The Statements are independently audited by the Audit Office of 
NSW, reported to Council, placed on public 
exhibition and lodged with the Office of Local Government. The Financial Statements are made up of 
five key financial reports; Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows. 

The 2018-2019 Financial Statements shows a positive Net Operating Result of $52.1M. This result 
includes grants and contributions for capital purposes which increases the asset base of Council 
however is not considered to truly reflect the underlying operating performance of the organisation.  

The Net Operating Result before Grants and Contributions for Capital Purposes was a deficit of $7.5M 
which is below Council’s targeted position of a small surplus result. The 2018-2019 result has been 
impacted by a number of significant one off non-cash adjustments related to valuation of employee leave 
and workers compensation provisions, loss on disposal of assets (assets renewed that had remaining 
book value, not sold), and reclassification of prior year capital works-in-progress (WIP) to operational 
expense.  These adjustments alone were reported in Council’s June Quarterly Review to have 
negatively impacted the result by $15.7M. These variations do not change the underlying capacity of 
the organisation over a period of time, and while there are also some positive one off items reported, 
Council considers our underlying financial performance to be on track to meet financial strategies and 
targets in the short, medium and long term.   
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Wollongong City Council 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

for the year ended 30 June 2019 
 

Note 23. Related Party Transactions 
 
 

  
  page 10 
 

(a) Key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel (KMP) of the council are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the council, directly or indirectly. 
 
The aggregate amount of KMP compensation included in the Income Statement is: 
 
 2019 2018 
Compensation:   
Short-term benefits 2,239 2,176 
Termination benefits 42  – 
Total 2,281  2,176 
 
 
(b) Other transactions with KMP and their related parties §S 

 
Council has assessed other transactions with KMP and their related parties as not material for recognition in these 
statements. 
 
 
(c) Other related party transactions 
 

$’000s 

Value of 
transactions 
during the year 

Outstanding 
balance Terms and conditions 

2019    
Associate    
Marketing, events, business and investment 
in LGA 

1,419 - Amounts provided under a funding 
agreement. 

Event sponsorship & support 71 - Based on specific events. 
LGA Major Events 10 - Amounts provided under a funding 

agreement. 
Partner program 6 -  
Merchandise 1 -  
    
Associate    
Performing Arts Centre Management 1,006 - Amounts provided under a funding 

agreement. 
Town Hall management 388 - Amounts provided under a funding 

agreement. 
Community Subsidy 20 - Amounts provided under a funding 

agreement. 
Venue Hire 11 -  
Asset Maintenance 9 -  
Catering 2 -  
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Wollongong City Council 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

for the year ended 30 June 2019 
 

Note 23. Related Party Transactions (continued) 
 
 

 
  page 11 
 

_ 

 

$’000s 

Value of 
transactions 
during the year 

Outstanding 
balance Terms and conditions 

2018    
Associate    
Marketing, events, business and investment 
in LGA 

1,376 - Amounts provided under a funding 
agreement. 

Subsidised office space 146 - Amounts provided under a funding 
agreement. 

Event sponsorship & support 91 - Based on specific events. 
LGA Major Events 20 - Amounts provided under a funding 

agreement. 
Feasibility study 8 -  
Visitor guide 4 -  
Partner program 3 -  
Contribution to Green Bus Service Extension 3 -  
Commission on accommodation bookings 1 -  
Associate    
Performing Arts Centre Management 690 - Amounts provided under a funding 

agreement. 
Town Hall management 375 - Amounts provided under a funding 

agreement. 
Community Subsidy 23 - Amounts provided under a funding 

agreement. 
Venue hire 11 -  
Ticket purchase 9 -  
Town Hall – evacuation users 6 -  
Student Transportation 1 -  
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Item 16 September 2019 Financials 

File: FI-914.05.001 Doc: IC19/651 

ITEM 16 SEPTEMBER 2019 FINANCIALS 
  
The September 2019 key financial results are largely positive compared to phased budget. The 
Operating Result [pre capital] shows a favourable variance of $1.5M and the Funds Available from 
Operations and Funds Result show favourable variances of $0.2M and $1.8M respectively. The 
Operating Result that shows an unfavourable variance of $1.9M is impacted by timing of capital grants 
and contributions. 

The Balance Sheet at the end of the period indicates that there is sufficient cash to support external 
restrictions. 

Council has expended $21.8M on its capital works program representing 22% of the annual budget. The 
year to date budget for the same period was $25.5M. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1 The financials be received and noted. 

2 Council approves the proposed changes to the Capital Budget. 
 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Brian Jenkins, Chief Financial Officer  
Authorised by: Renee Campbell, Director Corporate Services - Connected + Engaged City  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Income and Funding Statement - September 2019 
2  Capital Project Report - September 2019 
3  Balance Sheet - September 2019 
4  Cash Flow Statement - September 2019 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

This report presents the Income and Expense Statement, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement for 
September 2019. Council’s current budget has a Net Funding (cash) deficit of $9.7M, an Operating 
Deficit [pre capital] of $9.4M and a capital expenditure of $99.1M. 

The following table provides a summary view of the organisation’s overall financial results for the year to 
date. 

 

Original Revised YTD YTD

Budget Budget Forecast Actual Variation

$M $M $M $M $M

KEY MOVEMENTS 1-Jul 27-Sep 27-Sep 27-Sep

Operating Revenue 273.0 273.0 66.8 66.0 (0.8)

Operating Costs (282.4) (282.4) (69.8) (67.4) 2.4 

Operating Result [Pre Capital] (9.4) (9.4) (2.9) (1.4) 1.5 

Capital Grants & Contributions 42.9 42.9 10.4 6.9 (3.5)

Operating Result 33.5 33.5 7.5 5.5 (1.9)

Funds Available from Operations 56.7 56.7 12.1 12.3 0.2 

Capital Works 99.8 98.4 25.5 21.8 3.7 

Contributed Assets 6.7 6.7 -  -  -  

Transfer to Restricted Cash 1.4 1.4 0.4 0.4 (0.0)

Borrowings Repaid 7.9 7.9 1.2 1.2 -  

Funded from:

 - Operational Funds 56.7 56.7 12.1 11.1 (1.0)

 - Other  Funding 49.5 48.1 10.3 8.1 (2.1)

Total Funds Surplus/(Deficit) (9.7) (9.7) (4.7) (2.9) 1.8 

FORECAST POSITION
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Financial Performance 

The September 2019 Operating Result [pre capital] shows a favourable variance compared to phased 
budget of $1.5M that is largely due to lower depreciation expenditure ($1.7M), lower expenditure on 
materials and contracts ($1.2M) partially offset by lower recoveries from capital using internal resources 
($0.8M), timing of operational grant income ($0.4M) and other more minor variances. 

The Operating Result shows a negative variance of $1.9M compared to budget. This includes the net 
variation above as well as a lower level of capital income of $3.5M. This is mainly due to lower developer 
contributions income at West Dapto. 

The Funds Available from Operations indicates a favourable variation of $0.2M. This result includes the 
Operating Result ($1.9M unfavourable), lower use of restricted cash to fund operational projects ($0.6M) 
and the non-cash item depreciation ($1.7M), however excludes the timing impacts of grants and 
contributions that are transferred to restricted cash ($4.0M) and other more minor variations. 

Funds Result 

The Total Funds result as at 27 September 2019 shows a favourable variance of $1.8M compared to 
phased budget. This includes the funds component of the operating result ($0.2M) and lower net 
expenditure on capital works compared to budget ($1.6M). 

Capital Budget 

At the end of September the capital program shows an expenditure of $21.8M compared to a phased 
budget of $25.5M. Funding associated with this expenditure has decreased from a budget of $10.2M to 
actuals of $8.1M resulting in a net impact on the result of $1.6M. 

Through the adoption of the Operational Plan 2019-2020, Council approved a capital budget for 
2019-2020 of $98.8M. The revised projections at August and September 2019 recommend a reduction 
of $0.7M and $0.8M respectively that are offset by a similar decrease in funding. The reduction is 
primarily due to re-phasing of various projects which are supported by external funding or restricted 
cash. These include recognition of the accelerated land purchase for Warrawong Community Centre and 
Library initially planned for 2019-2020 that commenced in June 2019. Details of these changes are 
provided in the Capital Project reports and commentary (attachment 2). 
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Available Cash 

 

Council’s cash and investments decreased during September to holdings of $157.9M compared to 
$159.2M at the end of August 2019. This reflects normal trends for this time of the year. 

The Available Funds position excludes restricted cash. External restrictions are funds that must be spent 
for a specific purpose and cannot be used by Council for general operations. Internal restrictions are 
funds that Council has determined will be used for a specific future purpose. 

The Unrestricted Current Ratio measures the cash/liquidity position of an organisation. This ratio is 
intended to disclose the ability of an organisation to satisfy payment obligations in the short term from 
the unrestricted activities of Council. Council’s current ratio is below the Local Government Benchmark 
of >2:1, with the strategy being to maximise the use of available funds for asset renewal by targeting a 
lean Unrestricted Current Ratio. 

 $M  $M  $M 

Total Cash and Investments 154.8        130.0        157.9            

Less Restrictions:

External 77.7 78.0 79.4

Internal 61.2 46.7 61.1

Total Restrictions 138.9        124.7        140.5            

Available Cash 16.0          5.3            17.4

Adjusted for :

Payables (35.0) (25.4) (36.2)

Receivables 36.6 24.6 30.8

Other 11.9 11.2          14.6

Net Payables & Receivables 13.5 10.5 9.2

Available Funds 29.4          15.7          26.6              

 Original 

Budget 

2019/20 

 Actual Ytd    

September 

2019 

CASH, INVESTMENTS & AVAILABLE FUNDS

 Actual 

2018/19 
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Receivables 

Receivables are the amount of money owed to Council or funds that Council has paid in advance. At 
September 2019, receivables totalled $33.1M compared to receivables of $17.6M at September 2018. 
The increase in level of receivables compared to the same period last year relates predominantly to 
outstanding grant payments associated with West Dapto projects that are funded though the National 
Stronger Regions and Restart NSW programs. 

Payables 

Payables (the amount of money owed to suppliers) of $36.2M were owed at September 2019 compared 
to payables of $34.3M in September 2018. The difference in payables relate to goods and services and 
capital projects delivered but not yet paid for and timing of the Financial Assistance Grant payments that 
are received quarterly. 

Debt 

Council continues to have financial strength in its low level of borrowing. The industry measure of debt 
commitment is the Debt Service Ratio that measures the proportion of revenues that are required to 
meet annual loan repayments. 

Council’s Financial Strategy includes provision for additional borrowing in the future and Council will 
consider borrowing opportunities from time to time to bring forward the completion of capital projects 
where immediate funding is not available. Council currently has borrowings through an interest free 
loan and the subsidised Local Government Infrastructure Renewal Scheme (LIRS). In 2009-2010, 
Council borrowed $26M interest free to assist in the delivery of the West Dapto Access Plan. Council 
has also been successful in securing subsidies for loans under the three rounds of the LIRS program 
and has entered into loans of $20M in 2012-2013 for Round 1, $4.3M in 2013-2014 for Round 2 and 
$20.5M for Round 3. The LIRS program provides a loan subsidy of 4% for Round 1 and 3% for the 
subsequent rounds. Loan funds have been used to accelerate the Citywide Footpaths, Shared Path 
Renewal, Missing Links Construction Program, building refurbishment works for Berkeley Community 
Centre, Corrimal Library and Community Centre, Thirroul Pavilion and Kiosk and to support the West 
Dapto Access – Fowlers Road project respectively. 

Council’s Debt Service Ratio forecast for 2019-2020 is a target of <4% and remains low in comparison to 
the Local Government’s benchmark ratio of <10%. It is noted that non-cash interest expense relating to 

J A S O N D J F M A M J

Monthly Result 1.94 1.78 1.87 - - - - - - - - -

Target 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

 -

 0.50

 1.00

 1.50

 2.00

 2.50

R
a

ti
o

Unrestricted Current Ratio
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the amortisation of the income recognised on the West Dapto Access Plan Loan is not included when 
calculating the Debt Service Ratio. 

Assets 

The Balance Sheet shows that $2.6B of assets are controlled and managed by Council for the 
community as at 30 September 2019. The 2019-2020 capital works program includes projects such as 
the West Dapto Access strategy, civil asset renewals including roads, car parks and buildings and 
purchase of library books. Council has expended $21.8M on its capital works program representing 22% 
of the annual budget. The year to date budget for the same period was $25.5M. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Wollongong 2022 goal ‘We are a connected and engaged 
community’. It specifically delivers on the following: 

Community Strategic Plan 
Delivery Program 

2018-2021 
Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

4.3.2 Resources 
(finance, 
technology, assets 
and people) are 
effectively 
managed to ensure 
long term financial 
sustainability 

4.3.2.1 Effective and 
transparent 
financial 
management 
systems are in 
place 

Monitor and review achievement of Financial Strategy 

Continuous budget management is in place, controlled and 
reported 

Provide accurate and timely financial reports monthly, quarterly 
and via the annual statement 

Manage and further develop a compliance program to promote 
awareness and compliance with Council’s procurement policies 
and procedures and other related policies 

CONCLUSION 

The financial results at September 2019 are generally favourable compared to phased budget and 
indicate that Council is on track to achieve the projected annual result. 
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Item 17 Statement of Investment - August and September 2019 

File: FI-914.05.001 Doc: IC19/641 

ITEM 17 STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT - AUGUST AND SEPTEMBER 2019 
  
This report provides an overview of Council’s investment portfolio performance for the months of August 
and September 2019. 

Council’s average weighted return for August 2019 was 1.59% which was above the Bloomberg Bank 
Bill Index Benchmark return of 1.06%. The average weighted return for September 2019 was 1.72% 
which was above the Bloomberg Bank Bill Index Benchmark return of 0.99%. The results were primarily 
due to the positive returns from the Emerald Mortgage backed securities and NSW TCorp Hourglass 
facilities in Council’s portfolio. The remainder of Council's portfolio continues to provide a high level of 
consistency in income and a high degree of credit quality and liquidity. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 Council receive the Statement of Investment for August and September 2019. 
 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Brian Jenkins, Chief Financial Officer  
Authorised by: Renee Campbell, Director Corporate Services - Connected + Engaged City  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Statement of Investment - August and September 2019 
2  Investment Income Compared to Budget 2019-2020 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

Council is required to invest its surplus funds in accordance with the Ministerial Investment Order and 
Division of Local Government guidelines. The Order reflects a conservative approach and restricts the 
investment types available to Council. In compliance with the Order and Division of Local Government 
guidelines, Council adopted an Investment Policy on 10 December 2018. The Investment Policy 
provides a framework for the credit quality, institutional diversification and maturity constraints that 
Council’s portfolio can be exposed to. Council’s investment portfolio was controlled by Council’s Finance 
Division during the period to ensure compliance with the Investment Policy. Council’s Audit, Risk and 
Improvement Committee’s (ARIC) role of overseer provides for the review of Council’s Investment Policy 
and the Management Investment Strategy. 

Council’s Responsible Accounting Officer is required to sign the complying Statement of Investment 
contained within the report, certifying that all investments were made in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1993 and the Local Government Regulation 2005. 

Council’s investment holdings as at 30 August 2019 were $158,416,807 (Statement of Investment 
attached) [31 August 2018 $171,204,856] and as at 27 September 2019 were $157,796,872 (Statement 
of Investment attached) [28 September 2018 $168,357,039]. 

Council’s average weighted return for August 2019 was 1.59% which was above the Bloomberg Bank 
Bill Index Benchmark return of 1.06%. The average weighted return for September 2019 was 1.72% 
which was above the Bloomberg Bank Bill Index Benchmark return of 0.99%. The results were primarily 
due to the positive returns from the Emerald Mortgage backed securities and NSW TCorp Hourglass 
facilities in Council’s portfolio. The remainder of Council's portfolio continues to provide a high level of 
consistency in income and a high degree of credit quality and liquidity. 

At 27 September 2019, year to date interest and investment revenue of $886,506 was recognised 
compared to the year to date budget of $1,028,915. 

Council’s floating rate notes had a net decrease in value of $97,815 for August 2019, and a net decrease 
in value of $78,430 for September 2019. 
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Council holds two Mortgaged Backed Securities (MBS) that recorded a net decrease in value of $9,247 
for August 2019 and a net increase in value of $3,293 for September 2019. The coupon margins on 
these investments reflect pre Global Financial Crisis (GFC) pricing. For example, the Emerald A is 
paying 45 basis points over the BBSW where a comparative investment is now paying 100 basis points 
over the BBSW. This is reflected in the coupon rates on both these investments. While the maturity 
dates are outside Council’s control, the investment advisors had previously indicated that capital is not at 
risk at that stage and recommended a hold strategy due to the illiquid nature of the investment. 

Council has two investment holdings under the NSW TCorp Hour Glass Facility:  the Long-Term Growth 
Facility and the NSW TCorpIM Cash Fund. The Long-Term Growth recorded a net decrease in value of 
$5,916 in August and an increase of $25,746 in September. The fluctuation in the Long-Term Growth 
Facility is a reflection of the current share market volatility both domestically and internationally. The 
Cash Fund recorded a net increase in value of $11 in August 2019 and a net increase of $7,568 in 
September. The Cash Fund provides relatively stable returns with low potential for capital loss while 
maintaining high levels of liquidity, similar to an at call account. The fund only invests in Australian cash 
and fixed interests. 

At the September 2019 RBA meeting, the official cash rate remained unchanged at 1.00%, however 
during the October 2019 meeting the cash rate was cut by 25 basis points, down to a record low 0.75%. 
The RBA has advised that it would continue to assess the outlook and adjust policy as needed to foster 
sustainable growth in demand and inflation outcomes consistent with the inflation target over time. The 
current inflation rate is quite low and below target. 

Council’s Investment Policy includes counterparty limits to spread the institutional risk applied at the time 
of investment. Review of the Members Equity Bank percentages, currently at 12%, has concluded that 
the percentage at purchase was actually 11% and therefore marginally above Council’s Investment 
Policy limit of 10%. Corrective action on this operational error is in action, with updated process and 
increased vigilance by staff and advisor to ensure that investment limits are in compliance with Council’s 
Investment Policy. Council’s Responsible Accounting Officer has signed the Statement of Investment 
contained within the report, certifying that all investments were made in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1993 and the Local Government Regulation 2005. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Wollongong 2022 goal ‘We are a connected and engaged 
community’. It specifically delivers on the following: 

Community Strategic Plan 
Delivery Program 

2018-2021 
Operational Plan 2019-20 

Strategy 3 Year Action Operational Plan Actions 

4.3.2 Resources 
(finance, 
technology, assets 
and people) are 
effectively 
managed to ensure 
long term financial 
sustainability 

4.3.2.1 Effective and 
transparent 
financial 
management 
systems are in 
place 

Monitor and review achievement of Financial Strategy 

Continuous budget management is in place, controlled and 
reported 

Provide accurate and timely financial reports monthly, quarterly 
and via the annual statement 

Manage and further develop a compliance program to promote 
awareness and compliance with Council’s procurement policies 
and procedures and other related policies 

CONCLUSION 

The investments for August and September 2019 have performed unfavourably compared to the year to 
date budget, however the portfolio recorded an average weighted return above the annualised 
Bloomberg Bank Bill Index Benchmark. 
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Item 18 City of Wollongong Traffic Committee Minutes of Meeting held 2 October 2019 

File: IW-911.01.191 Doc: IC19/630 

ITEM 18 
CITY OF WOLLONGONG TRAFFIC COMMITTEE MINUTES OF MEETING HELD 2 
OCTOBER 2019 

  

The City of Wollongong Traffic Committee meeting was held on 2 October 2019.  Items listed in Sections 
2, 4 to 6 are to be adopted by Council through delegated authority. The items listed in Section 3 must be 
determined by Council and is recommended to Council for approval for temporary Regulation of Traffic 
on public roads for works or events by independent parties. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

1 In accordance with the powers delegated to Council, the Minutes and Recommendations of the City 
of Wollongong Traffic Committee held on 2 October 2019 in relation to Regulation of Traffic be 
adopted. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Mike Dowd, Manager Infrastructure Strategy + Planning  
Authorised by: Andrew Carfield, Director Infrastructure + Works  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Standard Conditions for Road Closures 
2  Australia Day Aquathon 
3  VODICI Saving the Cross Procession 
4  Orthodox Easter Processions 
5  Tri-the-Gong 
6  Illawarra Cycle Club Criterium 
  
 

BACKGROUND 

1 FAIRY MEADOW – Ward 2 (Item 3.1 of Wollongong Traffic Committee Minutes of Meeting)  

Elliotts Road- Australia Day Aquathon Sunday 26 January 2020 
Background 

Activate Events have applied to hold an Australia Day Aquathon event on Sunday 26 January 2020. The 
event requires the road closure of Elliotts Road from 8:00am to 9:30am. Runners are to keep to the right 
side of Elliotts Road and barriers will be placed to close off Fairy Meadow Surf Club car park. Council will 
be running the normal activities on Australia Day 2020 and there will be other road closures in the vicinity 
of Belmore Basin to cover the area where this event commences. 

Consultation 

For this agenda item consultation is required as part of the approval. 

PROPOSAL SUPPORTED UNANIMOUSLY 

The proposed Regulation of Traffic on Elliotts Road from 8am to 9:30am on Sunday 26 January 2020 be 
approved subject to the submitted Traffic Management Plans being amended to include a note that gaps 
around the vehicles be no more than 1.2m at the point of road closure, and Council’s Standard 
Conditions for Road Closures. 
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2 WOLLONGONG – Ward 2 (Item 3.2 of Wollongong Traffic Committee Minutes of Meeting)  

Stewart Street to Wollongong Boat Harbour- VODICI, Saving the Cross Procession on Sunday 19 
January 2020 - Road Closures  

Background 

On behalf of the Macedonian Orthodox Community in Stewart Street, Wollongong, the Macedonian 
Church has requested permission for road closures of Stewart Street, Marine Drive and Cliff Road for the 
purpose of the traditional Orthodox Saving the Cross Procession.  The road closures will take effect from 
11:30am until 12:00pm on Sunday 19 January 2020. The traffic management plans show suitable 
vehicle mitigation to protect attendees from out of control vehicles. 
 
The procession will occupy Stewart Street outside the Church but will proceed on the shared paths from 
Harbour Street to Belmore Basin. The closures on Marine Drive and Cliff Road will be short in order to 
allow the procession to cross these streets. 

Consultation 

For this agenda item consultation is required as part of the approval. 

PROPOSAL SUPPORTED UNANIMOUSLY 

The proposed Regulation of Traffic on Stewart Street to Wollongong Boat Harbour from 11:30am until 
12:00pm on Sunday 19 January 2020 be approved subject to the submitted Traffic Management Plans 
being amended to include a note that gaps around the vehicles be no more than 1.2m at the point of 
road closure, and Council’s Standard Conditions for Road Closures. 
 
3 WOLLONGONG – Ward 2 (Item 3.3 of Wollongong Traffic Committee Minutes of Meeting)  

Stewart Street, Harbour Street and Burelli Street- Orthodox Easter Processions on Friday 17 April    
2020 

Background 

On behalf of both the Macedonian and Greek Orthodox Communities in Stewart Street, Wollongong, the 
Macedonian Church has requested permission for road closures of Stewart, Harbour and Burelli Streets 
for the purpose of the traditional Orthodox Easter Processions.  The road closures will take effect from 
8:00pm to 10:00pm on Friday 17 April 2020.  The traffic management plans show suitable vehicle 
mitigation to protect attendees from out of control vehicles. 
 
The Macedonian Church procession will occupy Stewart, Harbour and Burelli Streets, but will be 
confined to the footpath on Corrimal Street as it returns to the Church. Following completion of the first 
procession, the Greek Orthodox Church will process on the same route and use the same traffic 
management company. For the duration of the closure all bus services will need to divert via Crown and 
Corrimal Streets. 

Consultation 

For this agenda item consultation is required as part of the approval. 

PROPOSAL SUPPORTED UNANIMOUSLY 

The proposed Regulation of Traffic on Stewart, Harbour and Burelli Streets from 8:00pm to 10:00pm on 
Friday 17 April 2020 for the Macedonian and Greek Orthodox Churches be approved subject to the 
submitted Traffic Management Plans being amended to include a note that gaps around the vehicles be 
no more than 1.2m at the point of road closure, and Council’s Standard Conditions for Road Closures. 
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4 WOLLONGONG – Ward 2 (Item 3.4 of Wollongong Traffic Committee Minutes of Meeting)  

 Tri-the-Gong Sunday 19 April 2020- Various Streets  

Background 

The ‘Tri-the-Gong’ Triathlon Festival Wollongong 2020 is a festival that will consist of five triathlon events 
on Sunday 19 April 2020.  
The following road closures are required from approximately 6am to 1pm: 

 Cliff Rd from Marine Dr to George Hanley Dr 

 Bourke St from Cliff Rd to the entry of the Novotel North Beach 

 Corrimal St from Blacket St to George Hanley Dr 

 George Hanley Dr from Cliff Rd to Squires Way 

 Squires Way from George Hanley Dr to Pioneer Rd 

 Pioneer Rd from Squires Way to Towradgi Rd 
 
The following parking lane closures are required from approximately 5pm Saturday 18 April 2020 
through to 1pm Sunday 19 April 2020: 

 All parking lanes along Cliff Rd (both sides), between Bourke Street and Marine Drive. 
 
It is understood the organiser is currently arranging road occupancy licences for the traffic signal 
intersections on the route of the triathlon. 
Additional Information: 

 Resident access lane will be opened to residents 9:15am to 9:45am. 

 Roads north of Elliotts Rd are to be opened approximately 10:30am and all other roads will 
be opened progressively when safe to do so up to 1pm.  

 The marshal controlled pedestrian access will be provided at all major intersections and 
other key points. 

 
The Gong Shuttle will need to divert along Montague, Flinders, Bourke and Corrimal Streets from 6am 
until 1pm. The route services 3 and 8 will also need to be diverted to avoid using the streets south of 
Towradgi Road. The Campbelltown 887 bus service will divert via Bourke and Corrimal Streets during 
the closure. 
 
Consultation 

For this agenda item consultation is required as part of the approval. 

PROPOSAL SUPPORTED UNANIMOUSLY 

The road closures for ‘Tri-the-Gong’ Triathlon Festival Wollongong on Sunday 19 April 2020 be approved 
subject to the submitted Traffic Management Plans and Council Standard Conditions for Road Closures. 
 
5 WOLLONGONG – Ward 2 (Item 3.5 of Wollongong Traffic Committee Minutes of Meeting)  

2019 Illawarra Cycle Club Criterium on Sunday 1 December 2019 
Background 

The 2019 Illawarra Cycle Club has applied to hold a Criterium Cycling Event on Sunday 
1 December 2019. The event will start at 8am and finish at 4pm and take place on Endeavour Drive and 
will require a full road closure. The traffic control plan has been submitted and shows traffic controllers 
within the Wollongong Harbour Complex in order to allow two-way traffic flow. The organisers may wish 
to include vehicle mitigation at the junction of Cliff Road and Endeavour Drive based on the outcome of 
the Hostile vehicles self-assessment. 
 

 



 Ordinary Meeting of Council 28 October 2019 397 

 

 

Consultation 

Consultation with the business community in the vicinity of Wollongong Harbour is a requirement of 
approval for the event. 

PROPOSAL SUPPORTED UNANIMOUSLY 

The proposed road closure of Endeavour Drive on Sunday 1 December 2019 be approved subject to the 
submitted Traffic Management Plans and Council’s Standard Conditions to Road Closures. 

 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We have affordable and accessible 
transport”.   

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Service Plan 2019-20. 
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Item 19 Bi-Monthly Returns of Disclosures of Interests and Other Matters - October 2019 
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ITEM 19 
BI-MONTHLY RETURNS OF DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS AND OTHER MATTERS - 
OCTOBER 2019 

  
The Model Code of Conduct requires the General Manager to table all Returns of Disclosures of Interest 
lodged by persons nominated as designated persons.  Returns are submitted to Council on a  
bi-monthly basis. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Council note the tabling of the Returns of Disclosures of Interest as required by Part 4 of the Model Code of 
Conduct. 
 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Todd Hopwood, Manager Governance and Customer Service  
Authorised by: Renee Campbell, Director Corporate Services - Connected + Engaged City  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Returns of Disclosures of Interests (to be tabled at meeting) 
   
 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal “We are a connected and engaged 
community”.  It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Governance and 
Administration Service Plan 2018-19. 
Returns of Disclosures of Interests (to be tabled) 
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ITEM 20 
ANNUAL TABLING OF RETURNS OF DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
OTHER MATTERS - 2018 TO 2019 

  

The Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW (the Model Code) requires the General Manager 
to table all Annual Returns of Disclosure of Pecuniary Interests and Other Matters (the return) lodged by 
the prescribed due date of 30 September 2019 at the first Council meeting after that date.  This report is 
submitted in addition to the bi-monthly report which tables Primary and Interim Returns. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Council note the tabling of the Annual Returns of Disclosure of Pecuniary Interests and Other Matters as 
required by Clause 4.26 of the Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW. 

 

REPORT AUTHORISATIONS 

Report of: Todd Hopwood, Manager Governance and Customer Service  
Authorised by: Renee Campbell, Director Corporate Services - Connected + Engaged City  

ATTACHMENTS 

1  Register of Returns of Disclosure of Pecuniary Interests and Other Matters (to be tabled at 
meeting) 

  
 

 

BACKGROUND 

Council Officers forwarded the Office of Local Government guidelines and designated forms for the 
completion of returns to all relevant Councillors, staff and designated persons outlining their 
responsibilities to complete the return for the period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 in order to comply with 
the provisions of the Model Code. 

All designated persons must lodge their return with the General Manager by 30 September each year. 
Council has identified 211 designated persons and as at the date of this report 12 returns remain 
outstanding. Council officers continue to follow up outstanding returns. 

PLANNING AND POLICY IMPACT 

This report contributes to the delivery of Our Wollongong 2028 goal under the objective our local Council 
has the trust of the community (Community Goal) we are a connected and engaged community. 

It specifically delivers on core business activities as detailed in the Governance and Community 
Services, Service Plan 2019-20. 

 



 Ordinary Meeting of Council 28 October 2019 420 

 

 

 

ITEM 21 
NOTICE OF MOTION - COUNCILLOR FIGLIOMENI - PORT KEMBLA COMMUNITY 
INVESTMENT FUND (PKCIF) 

  
Councillor Figliomeni has submitted the following Notice of Motion – 

“I formally move that Council consider approval of the following actions -  

1 The Conservation Management Plan (CMP) for Hill 60 is finalised and actions for its implementation 
are agreed with Ward 3 Councillors no later than 28 February 2020. 

2 Future Council funding requests under the Port Kembla Community Investment Fund (PKCIF) are 
directed towards – 

a Completion of the Ngaraba-aan Cultural Trail including construction of a board walk where 
appropriate 

b  Restoration of the Hill 60 WWII tunnels in readiness for the UCI World Cycling Championships. 

3 An investigation is initiated and a report provided to Council for consideration by 30 June 2020 on 
the possible opportunities to establish externally-funded commercial hospitality and tourist facilities 
at Hill 60. 

4 Council contribute funding towards the above in accordance with the Capital Works program. 

5 That the Aboriginal Heritage Assessment Report currently underway is progressed in conjunction 
with the Aboriginal Community as a matter of urgency. 

6 That Council approach the Office of Heritage and Environment seeking urgent approval for the total 
implementation of the Hill 60 Master Plan Projects including item 2 above.” 

 

 

Background provided by Councillor Figliomeni: 

The first CMP recognising the historic significance and importance of Hill 60 was completed 
approximately 20 years ago. Since then, little has been done on the site and due to the flux of time the 
2000 CMP has been rendered obsolete with a new plan now in progress. 

This motion seeks to develop a strategic direction for the site and to create a community asset that will 
generate long term benefits for Port Kembla and the Wollongong LGA. 

Hill 60 is visited by the community, including tourists and wedding photography, on a regular basis, even 
in its currently dilapidated state. 

As noted, to date little if any progress has been made on restoration of the tunnels or provision of 
facilities and the time is right to use funds available via the PKCIF to commence work on how the site 
can be developed to be an economic driver and enabler for Port Kembla including the Aboriginal 
Community. 
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ITEM 22 
NOTICE OF MOTION - COUNCILLOR DORAHY - LIGHT RAIL NETWORK - 21ST 
CENTURY WOLLONGONG - CITY OF INNOVATION 

  
Councillor Dorahy has submitted the following Notice of Motion – 

“I formally move that Wollongong City Council investigate the opportunity to install a Light Rail Network 
across the Wollongong LGA, bringing Wollongong’s public transport infrastructure into the 21st Century. 
I seek Councillor support for the following actions in this matter - 

1 A Briefing be provided to Councillors by 27 July 2020 providing feedback and commentary on the 
Opportunity Cost versus the Opportunity Benefit to be determined through the following measures - 

a Contact made with NSW Government Premier Berejiklian; Minister for Infrastructure and 
Transport Andrew Constance; Minister for Finance Dominic Perrottet; Local MP’s Gareth Ward, 
Ryan Park and Paul Scully to seek support and options to achieve funding for the project. 

b Contact the following Federal Government Ministers to, at a minimum, seek a meeting/s to 
discuss the merits of Wollongong’s desire to build a Light Rail Network and to seek support for 
the critical funding for the project - Minister for Finance Mathias Cormann; Minister for 
Infrastructure and Transport Michael McCormack; Minister for Regional Development, 
Territories and Local Government Dr John McVeigh; Minister for Cities, Urban Infrastructure and 
Population The Hon Alan Tudge MP; Minister for Regional Services, Decentralisation and Local 
Government & Assistant Minister for Trade and Investment Mark Coulton; Local Federal MP’s 
Senator Concetta Fierravanti-Wells, Member for Cunningham Sharon Bird and Member for 
Whitlam Stephen Jones. 

c Contact made with the Illawarra Business Chamber and Regional Development Australia 
(Illawarra) CEO’s regarding the utilisation of their strong lobbying channels and business 
connections to assist in achieving this capital project opportunity for Wollongong. 

d Local, national and international business groups with expertise to deliver a plan for light rail 
infrastructure, be identified and contacted, to determine the potential costs of this project 
against WCC’s Draft design for corridors. 

e Development of a scalable Draft Plan to achieve this opportunity outcome with potential corridor 
uptake, cost and timeline indications, with the initial section to include Crown Street from Marine 
Drive to the Hospital. 

2 WCC Councillors put forward their support for the third largest City in NSW to be brought into the 
21st Century with a view to application for and lobbying to receive funding from both State and 
Federal Governments to this potential project.  

3 WCC, through the Lord Mayor, make an approach to WCC International contacts in Wollongong’s 
Sister Cities and connections in the North of England where experience and expertise could be 
gained to fast track the opportunity for a Light Rail Network in a wider scale through a potential 
Public Private Partnership option. 

4 WCC undertake a Survey with the residents in Q1-20 for the concept of a Light Rail Network and 
where residents perceive the best corridors are suited for a Light Rail Network to operate. 

5 WCC convene a small Committee of WCC executives, Councillors and two to four invited Local 
Businesspersons to plan and advance the opportunity. The committee to begin its role from late 
January 2020. 

I therefore put it to Councillors to support this Motion that Council investigate and bring a Briefing Report 
to Councillors by 27 July 2020 regarding Scalable Opportunity to future proof the Wollongong transport 
needs in consideration of population growth and the option to install a Light Rail Network across the 
Wollongong LGA for the benefit of its residents and visitors.” 
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Item C Notice of Motion - Councillor Cox - Local Recycling Industry 
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ITEM 23 NOTICE OF MOTION - COUNCILLOR COX - LOCAL RECYCLING INDUSTRY 
  
Councillor Cox has submitted the following Notice of Motion – 

“I formally move that –  

1 Council welcomes the announcement from Prime Minister Scott Morrison, that the federal 
government will commit $20 million for innovative projects to grow the Australian recycling 
industry. 

2 Council writes to Prime Minster Morrison, the NSW Premier and the Federal Minister for Industry, 
Science and Technology, Karen Andrews, to express an interest that Wollongong be the site of a 
new Australian recycling plant.” 

 

 

Background provided by Councillor Cox: 

Wollongong is an ideal location to develop a new recycling industry, given that we have a port, rail 
access, industrial land, and a skilled work force. New jobs in the recycling industry would be welcomed 
in our city, and would assist in diversifying our economy.  

Already, the South Coast Labor Council has called for more support for green jobs in the Illawarra, to 
speed the transition to a cleaner economy and create new jobs in the industries of the future. Our own 
Economic Development Strategy has a target of 10,000 new jobs, and new projects like this would help 
us to achieve that target. 

While local government is not eligible for the grant funding, the City of Innovation is in a unique position 
to indicate our willingness to be the site of one of these projects. 

The Prime Minister’s announcement can be found here: https://www.pm.gov.au/media/greener-
recycling-industry 

 

https://www.pm.gov.au/media/greener-recycling-industry
https://www.pm.gov.au/media/greener-recycling-industry
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